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CORPORATE PROFILE

Minority Shareholder Watchdog Group (MSWG) was set up in the year 2000 as a Government initiative to be part of a 
broader Capital Market framework to bring about awareness primarily on minority shareholders interest and corporate 
governance matters through shareholder activism and engagement with stakeholders. MSWG is a professional body 
licensed under the Capital Market & Services Act 2007.  It is a self-governing and non-profit body, funded predominantly 
by the Capital Market Development Fund (CMDF).  It is an important channel of market discipline, encouraging good 
governance with the objective of creating sustainable value.

Since incorporation, MSWG has evolved into a respected and independent corporate governance research and 
monitoring organisation in the capital market. It highlights and provides independent views and guidance to investors. 

MSWG’s four founding organisations are:
•	 Armed Forces Fund Board (Lembaga Tabung Angkatan Tentera)
•	 National Equity Corporation (Permodalan Nasional Berhad)
•	 Social Security Organisation (Pertubuhan Keselamatan Sosial)
•	 Pilgrimage Board (Lembaga Tabung Haji)

MISSION 
TO INCREASE SUSTAINABLE SHAREHOLDER VALUE IN COMPANIES THROUGH 
ENGAGEMENT WITH RELEVANT STAKEHOLDERS, WITH A FOCUS ON MINORITY 
SHAREHOLDER INTERESTS 
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2
51TO BECOME THE

FORUM
ON MINORITY SHAREHOLDERS EXPERIENCES;

CORPORATE OBJECTIVES

MSWG has a Charter under its Memorandum and Articles of Association, which spells out its objectives as follows:-

TO INFLUENCE

DECISION-MAKING 
PROCESS IN PLCS AS THE LEADER FOR 

MINORITY SHAREHOLDERS LEGISLATIVE 
RIGHTS AND INTERESTS;

TO BECOME  THE

THINK-TANK AND 
RESOURCE CENTRE 
FOR MINORITY INTERESTS AND CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE MATTERS IN MALAYSIA;

TO MONITOR 

BREACHES AND 
NON-COMPLIANCE 

IN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES BY 
PLCS; AND

TO DEVELOP AND DISSEMINATE THE 

EDUCATIONAL 
ASPECTS 
OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE;

TO INITIATE

REPORTS TO 
REGULATORY 
AUTHORITIES

 AND TRANSFORM MSWG INTO AN EFFECTIVE 
DETERRENT OF SUCH EVENTS OR ACTIVITIES 

THAT CAN WORK AGAINST THE INTERESTS OF 
MINORITY SHAREHOLDERS.

TO BECOME THE

PLATFORM 
TO INITIATE COLLECTIVE SHAREHOLDER 
ACTIVISM ON UNETHICAL OR QUESTIONABLE 
PRACTICES MADE BY MANAGEMENT OF PLCS;
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COMPANY SECRETARY			   BANKERS
Mr Chew Phye Keat (BC/C/282)		  Malayan Banking Berhad
Messrs Raja Darryl & Loh			   Jalan Raja Laut Branch
18th Floor Wisma Sime Darby			  Wisma PKNS
Jalan Raja Laut				    Jalan Raja Laut
50350 Kuala Lumpur			   50350 Kuala Lumpur
					     Tel: (603) 2698 8867
					     Fax: (603) 2691 7181

				                        AmBank (M) Berhad
					     Bangunan AmBank Group
					     No: 55 Jalan Raja Chulan
					     50200 Kuala Lumpur
					     Tel: (603) 2078 2100

                                                                 		  Fax: (603)2032 4069

REGISTERED OFFICE			   AUDITORS
11th Floor Bangunan KWSP			   PricewaterhouseCoopers Malaysia
No: 3 Changkat Raja Chulan			   Level 10, 1 Sentral
Off Jalan Raja Chulan			   Jalan Travers
50200 Kuala Lumpur			   Kuala Lumpur Sentral
Tel: (603) 2070 9090				   P O Box 10192
Fax: (603) 2070 9107				   50706 Kuala Lumpur
Website: www.mswg.org.my			   Tel: (603) 2173 1188

					     Fax: (603) 2173 1288

CONTACT PERSON
Puan Lya Rahman
General Manager, Corporate Services
E-mail: lyarahman@mswg.org.my

watchdog@mswg.org.my

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Dr Sulaiman 
Mahbob 
Chairman
Independent Non-Executive Director

Puan Rita Benoy Bushon
Chief Executive Officer
Executive Director

Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Lodin Wok 
Kamaruddin
Independent Non-Executive Director

Dato’ Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap 
Liow
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr Philip Koh Tong Ngee
Independent Non-Executive Director

Encik Nor Hizam Hashim
Independent Non-Executive Director

DATUK ZAKARIA SHARIF 
Alternate Director To Tan Sri Dato’ 
Seri Lodin Wok Kamaruddin

CORPORATE 
INFORMATION
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PROFILE OF 
DIRECTORS

Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Dr Sulaiman Mahbob 
Chairman/ Independent Non-Executive Director 
Age				      : 	 67 
Date of Appointment		    : 	 16 April 2012
Date of Appointment as Chairman : 	 11 April 2013
Length of Service    		    : 	 3 years 10 months

Academic / Professional Qualification(s)
•	Degree in Economics, University of Malaya
•	Master of Science, University of London
•	PhD, Syracuse University, USA 

Present Directorship(s)
Directorship in PLC(s)
•	Chairman, Telekom Malaysia Berhad
•	Board of Directors, Felda Global Ventures Holdings Berhad
Other Public Companies/Institutions:
•	Chairman, Malaysian Institute of Economic Research 
•	Board of Directors, Bank Negara Malaysia 
•	Board of Directors, Institute of Strategic and International Studies 

Present Appointment(s)
•	Adjunct Professor at the University of Malaya and Universiti Tun Abdul Razak

Past Directorship(s) and/or Appointment(s)
•	Chairman, Malaysian Investment Development Authority
•	Member, Economics Planning Unit (EPU) of PM’s Department
•	Founding President, Institute of Integrity Malaysia 
•	Board of Directors, National Petroleum Corporation 
•	First Chairman, Companies Commission of Malaysia
•	Board of Directors, Multimedia and Communications Commission
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Rita Benoy Bushon 
CEO/Executive Director
Age						      :	 56
Date of Appointment as Chief Executive Officer	 :	 1 January 2009
Date of Appointment as Executive Director	 :	 18 May 2009
Length of Service as Executive Director		  :	 6 years 9 months

Academic / Professional Qualification(s)
•	MBA, Henley Management College, Brunel University (1993)
•	Hons Degree in Economics (Statistics), Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia (1984)
•	Holder of Capital Market Services Representative’s Licence (since 2003)

Present Directorship(s)
Directorship in PLC(s):
•	Nil

Present Appointment(s)
•	Chief Executive Officer of Minority Shareholder Watchdog Group  
•	Council Member and Head of Secretariat of the Institutional Investor Council Malaysia 
•	Chairman of the ASEAN CG Scorecard Adjudication Committee
•	Member  of Global Network of Investor Association, ICGN 

Past Directorship(s) and/or Appointment(s)
•	Founder Director, Badan Pengawas Pemegang Saham Minoriti Berhad (MSWG) (since 2002)
•	Executive Director of Land & General Berhad (2006 -2008)
•	Non-Independent Non-Executive Director of KFC Holdings (Malaysia) Berhad (2003 – 2008)
•	Non-Independent Non-Executive Director of Land & General Berhad (2003 -2006)
•	Served the Employees Provident Fund for 23 years since 1984 up to her retirement in October 2007 and held various senior 

positions in the Investment Department such as Head of Equity Research, Head of External Portfolio Management, Head of 
Private Equity and Head of Corporate Surveillance before her optional retirement.

Awards/Achievements
•	Awarded the BrandLaureate Brand ICON Leadership Award for Transformation Leadership by the Asia Pacific Brands 

Foundation (2011)
•	Awarded the Women of Excellence Award for “Outstanding Achievement” under the Quasi Government Category supported 

by Ministry of Women, Family and Community Development and the Department for Women Development (2014)
•	Awarded the “Top 10 of Malaysia Towering Personality Recognition” supported by Ministry of International Trade and 

Industry and Ministry of Tourism and Culture Malaysia (2014)

PROFILE OF
DIRECTORS
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Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Lodin Wok Kamaruddin
Independent Non-Executive Director
Age					     :	 66
Date of Appointment			   :	 5 November 2001
Length of Service                			  :	 14 years 4 months

Academic / Professional Qualification(s)
•	Bachelor of Business Administration, University of Toledo, Ohio, USA
•	Master of Business Administration, University of Toledo, Ohio, USA
•	Chartered Banker, AICB

Present Directorship(s)
Directorships in PLC(s):
•	Chairman of Boustead Heavy Industries Corporation  Berhad
•	Chairman of Pharmaniaga Berhad
•	Deputy Chairman of Affin Holdings Berhad
•	Vice Chairman of Boustead Plantations Berhad
•	Deputy Chairman / Group Managing Director of Boustead Holdings Berhad

Other Public Companies/Institutions: 
•	Director of Affin Bank Berhad
•	Director of Affin Islamic Bank Berhad
•	Director of Affin Hwang Investment Bank Berhad
•	Chairman of Affin Hwang Asset Management Berhad
•	Director of AXA Affin Life Insurance Berhad
•	Chairman of MHS Aviation Berhad
•	Director of Boustead Properties Berhad
•	Director of UAC Berhad

Present Appointment(s)
•	Chief Executive of Lembaga Tabung Angkatan Tentera 
•	Deputy Chairman/Group Managing Director of Boustead Holdings Berhad

Awards/Achievements
•	Received Chevalier De La Légion d’Honneur Award from the French Government (2003)
•	Outstanding Entrepreneurship Award of APEA (2008)
•	Degree in Doctor of Laws (honoris causa) The University of Nottingham, United Kingdom (2010)
•	UiTM Alumnus of the Year 2010 Award (2011)
•	The BrandLaureate Most Eminent Brand Icon Leadership Award 2012 by Asia Pacific Brands Foundation (2012)
•	The BrandLaureate Corporate Leader Of The Year Award (2013 - 2014)

PROFILE OF
DIRECTORS
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Dato’ Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow
Independent Non-Executive Director

Age			   	 :	 60
Date of Appointment		  :	 20 July 2005
Length of Service               		  :	 10 years 7 months

Academic / Professional Qualification(s)
•	Certified Management Consultant
•	Chartered Accountant

Present Directorship(s)
Directorship in PLC(s):
•	CEO and Managing Director of OMESTI Berhad
•	Chairman of Cuscapi Berhad
•	Chairman of Rev Asia Berhad
•	Director of Tropicana Berhad

Present Appointment(s)
Other Public Companies/Institutions:
•	Director of Graphene Nanochem Ltd (UK)
•	Director, Tanjong Public Limited Company
•	Chairman of the British Malaysian Chamber of Commerce
•	Trustee of JC Jacobsen Foundation
•	Chairman, Fatfish Internet Group Ltd (Australia)
•	Director, Maybank Investment  Bank Berhad
•	Director, 8 Common Ltd (Australia)
•	Council Member, Badminton Association of Malaysia

Past Directorship(s) and/or Appointment(s)
•	Chairman & Member, Global Management Council, Accenture
•	Chairman of the Association of Computer Industry Malaysia 
•	Member of Minister of Science & Technology Think Tank
•	Member of Copyright Tribunal
•	Member of Labuan International Financial Exchange Committee
•	Vice President, Association of Asian Oceania Computer Industry 

Organisation
•	Director, MIMOS Berhad (National Technology Research).
•	President, Malaysian Fencing Federation
•	Trustee, Yayasan Tuanku Nur Zahirah (Queen’s Foundation)

PROFILE OF
DIRECTORS

•	Director, iProperties Ltd (Australia)
•	Chairman, Redtone International Berhad
•	Chairman, Diversified Gateway Solutions Berhad
•	Director, Amlslamic Bank Berhad
•	Director, SaujanaResort (M) Berhad
•	Director, AMMB Holdings Berhad
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Mr. Philip Koh Tong Ngee
Independent Non-Executive Director 

Age	 		  	 :	 61
Date of Appointment		  :	 2 June 2005
Length of Service  		  :	 10 years 9 months

Academic / Professional Qualification(s)
•	Bachelor of Laws Degree (LL.B) (Hons), University of Malaya
•	Master of Laws Degree (LL.M), University of London
•	Master of Arts (Theology) Degree, Australian Catholic University

Directorship in PLC(s)
•	Nil

Present Appointment(s)
•	Advocate & Solicitor, High Court of Malaya 
•	Member of Panel of Arbitrators of Kuala Lumpur Regional Centre for Arbitration  
•	Senior Partner, Mah-Kamariyah & Philip Koh
•	Member, Private Sector Advisory Group, International Finance Corporation/World Bank
•	Member, Financial Stability Executive Committee established pursuant to Section 37 of the Central Bank Malaysia Act 

2009

PROFILE OF
DIRECTORS
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Encik Nor Hizam Hashim
Independent Non-Executive Director

Age	 	 			   :	 66
Date of Appointment	 		  :	 2 December 2009
Length of Service                			  :	 6 years 3 months

Academic / Professional Qualification(s)
•	Chartered Accountant
•	Bachelor of Commerce Degree, University of Western Australia
•	Bachelor of Jurisprudence Degree (External) with Honors, University of Malaya

Present Directorship(s)
Directorship in PLC(s):
•	Nil

Present Appointment(s)
•	Nil

Past Directorship(s) and/or Appointment(s)
•	Advisor, Economic Planning Unit and Public Private Partnership Unit in the Prime Minister’s Department
•	Board Member, Telkom South Africa & Subsidiaries
•	Chief Financial Officer, Telekom South Africa
•	Chief Executive Officer, TM International Corporation 
•	Board Member, TM subsidiaries

PROFILE OF
DIRECTORS
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Datuk Zakaria Sharif
Alternate Director to Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Lodin Wok Kamaruddin 
Age	 				    :	 58
Date of Appointment	 		  :	 16 January 2012
Length of Service                			  :	 4 years 1 month

Academic / Professional Qualification(s)
•	Graduated in Economics majoring in Accounting, Monash University, Australia
•	Fellow of the Australian Society of Certified Public Accountants 
•	Associate Member, Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
•	Member, Malaysian Institute of Accountants 

Present Directorship(s)
Directorship in PLC(s)
•	Boustead Plantations Berhad

Other Public Companies/Institutions
•	LTP Wibawa Sdn Berhad
•	Yayasan Veteran ATM
•	Chery Automobile (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd
•	Chery International (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd
•	Jendela Hikmat Sdn Bhd
•	Labuan Reinsurance (L) Ltd

Present Appointment(s)
•	Deputy Chief Executive of Lembaga Tabung Angkatan Tentera 

PROFILE OF
DIRECTORS
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MANAGEMENT TEAM &
ASSOCIATES

MANAGEMENT

MS REBECCA YAP
Head , Corporate Monitoring/Finance

B. Business (Accounting)
Monash University 

CPA Aust, CA (M)
rebecca.yap@mswg.org.my

MR QUAH BAN AIK
Head, Corporate Monitoring

MBA (Finance), UPM
LLB (London), UK

CLP, Malaysia
AIIA

banaik.quah@mswg.org.my

EN NORHISAM SIDEK
Manager, Corporate Monitoring
B. Accounting (Hons.), UITM
CA (M)
norhisam@mswg.org.my

MR LEE CHEE MENG
Manager, Corporate Monitoring
CA (M), FCCA-UK
chee.meng@mswg.org.my

MR WONG KIN WING
Manager, Corporate Monitoring
B. Comm. & Admin., Victoria University of 
Wellington, NZ
CFA, Holder of Capital Market Services 
Representative’s License
kinwing@mswg.org.my

MS LINNERT HOO
Manager, Corporate Monitoring
B. Accounting (Hons), University  Malaya
CA(M), Associate Member of CTIM
CFP qualification holder
linnert.hoo@mswg.org.my

PN RITA BENOY BUSHON
Chief Executive Officer
MBA, Henley Management College, UK
B. Econs. (Statistics) (Hons.), UKM
Holder of Capital Market Services 
Representative’s Licence
rita@mswg.org.my

PN LYA RAHMAN
General Manager, Corporate Services

Holder of CCM License
lyarahman@mswg.org.my
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MANAGEMENT TEAM &
ASSOCIATES

MR VINODTH RAM
Analyst/ Corporate Services Executive
B. Applied Business Mgt., University of Ballarat, 
Aust
Dip Business Management, BAC, Malaysia
vinodth.ram@mswg.org.my

MS EMILY LIM
Manager, Finance
LCCI
emily@mswg.org.my

PN NORKHALIDAH KHALIL
Analyst
BBA (Marketing)(Hons), UUM
khalidah@mswg.org.my

MS S PADMA DEVI
Manager, IT
B.Sc. Computing (IT), Staffordshire University
padmadevi@mswg.org.my

PN NORAIDA MARIA MOHD HATTA
BA (Hons) Accounting and Finance
University of Strathclyde 
Glasgow, Scotland
FCA (ICAEW)

MS RATHIMALAR SUNDRAM
LLB (Hons), University of London
LLM, University of Staffordshire
ACMA

MR LEE LEOK SOON
FCMA, FCCA, CA(M)

PUAN SRI RUSILA ABD RAZAK
LLB Hons. (Lond.)
LLM, (Maritime)
Barrister-at-Law,Gray’s Inn

MS JOSEPHINE EDWARDS
ACCA (UK), CPA Australia
MIA

MR KHOO HSU CHUANG
LLB (Hons) Leicester University

ASSOCIATES
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am honoured to present the Annual Report of 
the Minority Shareholder Watchdog Group (MSWG) for the financial year ended 31 
December 2015.

Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Dr Sulaiman Mahbob
Chairman

It was another busy year for MSWG as we persevered in 
our objective of promoting good corporate governance 
practices and encouraging active participation by minority 
shareholders to exercise their rights to protect their 
investments, amidst a challenging global environment of 
plunging commodity prices and geo-political developments 
to an already weakening ringgit.  

On the global corporate front, a few prominent international 
listed companies came under heavy scrutiny after serious 
lapses in corporate governance. 

In this connection, MSWG’s efforts during the year, 
reiterating its commitment to ensuring the adherence of 
good practices is noteworthy.  The later part of the year 
continued to see our macro-economic environment come 

under further siege from many fronts, with the lower 
energy and commodity prices and higher levels of debts. 
Repercussions on the economy were felt, with corporate 
earnings particularly from sectors like Oil & Gas services, 
property, banking, plantations, retail, aviation and leisure/
gaming reporting year-on-year declines.

In this regard, the economic restructuring, financial reforms 
and development undertaken by the country during the 
last two decades, allowed us to weather the challenging 
operating environment. Hence, despite a slower global 
growth of 3.1 per cent, our economy grew between 4.5 to 
5.5 per cent in 2015. Malaysia’s capital market currently 
stands at RM2.82 trillion, almost three times the size 
of the Malaysian economy, with the equity market at 
RM1.74 trillion and the bond market at RM1.08 trillion. 
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Growth in the fund management 
industry has been an important driver 
of capital market deepening, with 
RM630 billion under management at 
the end of 2014. International reserves 
remained high at RM418 billion in 
October 2015 while inflow of Foreign 
Direct Investment remained strong at 
RM22.4 billion. The 11th Malaysian Plan 
put on paper some of the bold measures 
to take the next steps in our country’s 
journey to becoming an advanced 
nation that is inclusive and sustainable. 
Under the Plan, the Malaysian economy 
is expected to expand 5 to 6 per cent a 
year based on sustainable domestic 
demand and increasing contributions 
from the external sector. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
LANDSCAPE AND 
DEVELOPMENTS 2015

In the area of investor stewardship, 
the Malaysian Code for Institutional 
Investors which was formulated by 
the major institutional investors led 
by MSWG and launched jointly by the 
Securities Commission and MSWG 
in 2014, sets out broad principles 
of effective stewardship. It includes 
monitoring and engagement with the 
investee companies and managing 
conflicts of interest. The Code 
underlines self-governance taking on 
a bigger and more pro-active role, 
thus, further developing the corporate 
governance landscape in the country. 

FOREIGN DIRECT INVESTMENT

RM22.4 bil
IN 2015

OUR ECONOMY 
GREW BETWEEN

4.5 to 
5.5%

IN 2015

In this regard, the economic restructuring, financial 
reforms and development undertaken by the country 
during the last two decades, allowed us to weather the 
challenging operating environment.

8
ASSET MANAGERS AND ASSET 

OWNERS AS SIGNATORIES
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Combined efforts from minority shareholders is expected 
to  force positive changes and influence and drive 
performance and accountability at board levels, thereby, 
driving long-term and sustainable shareholder value.

ESG or environmental, social and governance is one of 
the principles that the Code highlights. Sustainable and 
responsible practices by corporates have become main 
stream strategies that investors are beginning to put more 
focus. In the same vein, corporates must seriously relook 
at their objectives to make responsible decisions to attract 
the right kind of longer term investors.  The remarkable 
growth in the global sustainable investments market, 
which rose from USD13.3 trillion in 2012 to USD21.4 trillion 
in 2014, a compounded annual growth of 27 per cent and 
it now accounts for more than 30 per cent of professionally 
managed assets is a testament to smart money’s focus 
on sustainable issues.  The Code exhorts institutional 
investors to become signatories so that commitment is 
shown to their beneficiaries and to the public at large on 
the best practices adhered by these funds.   

In this connection, Kumpulan Wang Persaraan 
(Diperbadankan) or KWAP took the lead in 2015 by 
becoming the first asset owner in Malaysia to become a 
signatory to the Code, and more recently towards the end 
of the year, ValueCap Sdn Bhd became the second asset 
owner to become a signatory. Altogether, we now have 
eight asset managers and asset owners as signatories to 
the Code. They include Hermes Fund Managers, Aberdeen 
Asset Management, Legal & General Investment and BNP 
Paribas Investment Partners, among others, together 
having funds under management surpassing RM3 trillion.
  
July 2015 saw the establishment of the Institutional 
Investor Council of Malaysia, chaired by the CEO of 
KWAP.  The objectives of the Council among others 
were to represent the interests of institutional investors 
in Malaysia, and to be the platform to influence good 
corporate governance culture by PLCs and in addition to 

advocating the adoption of the Code among themselves 
as well as other institutional investors. This is a timely 
move for institutional investors as an influential group to 
play a bigger and more meaningful role in governance, 
stewardship and responsible investments. 

Starting 2015, PLCs are being required to disclose 
diversity policies, including those relating to gender, 
age and ethnicity, in the workplace and on their boards. 
Institutional investors are gradually consciously increasing 
investments based on sustainability and diversity 
considerations.

MOVING AHEAD

It is my hope that 2016 will herald a new era in corporate 
governance, that of effective stewardship, both corporate 
and investors.  All shareholders must play their rightful role 
as stewards, seeking justifications and clarifications on 
relevant items including corporate proposals, directors’ 
remuneration, time commitment of directors and board 
diversity, among others. 

I firmly believe that greater transparency and active 
shareholder engagements will lead to more responsible 
company behaviour and ultimately, more value creation.  
It’s about being responsible and transparent on the 
actions taken; it’s about accountability and having a more 
purposeful oversight both by the board of companies and 
shareholders based on solid principles that are aligned to 
the company’s best interests.

MSWG’s relevance in the capital market and its role in 
bringing about awareness on company matters had been 
critical in facilitating positive corporate behaviour. 
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, let me take this opportunity to thank the Capital 
Market Development Fund (CMDF) for its unwavering 
support of MSWG and funding the bulk of its activities, thus, 
enabling us to continue with our agenda of strengthening   
the Malaysian capital market. 

I would like to thank all our subscribers for their continued 
support.  My appreciation also goes to the media as well as 
capital market partners who have played an instrumental 
role in highlighting corporate governance issues to make 
our market more transparent.

I would like to further extend the Board’s appreciation to 
the regulators – Securities Commission and Bursa Malaysia, 
for working alongside MSWG to strengthen the corporate 
governance landscape in Malaysia. This is in order to bring 
about greater investor and shareholder awareness and 
participation thereby creating a more vibrant and informed 
capital market.

My gratitude goes to the CEO of MSWG whose purposeful 
determination has helped transform the corporate 
governance landscape through her efforts in engaging the 
stakeholders in the capital market, in addition to providing 
a platform for investor education and investor stewardship 
initiatives. I am proud to note that she has been appointed 
as Head of Secretariat and Council Member to the Malaysian 
Institutional Investor Council in recognition of her work on 
this initiative and her wide experience in this field. 

My deepest appreciation goes to the management, staff 
and associates of MSWG who worked hard during the year 
to achieve the objectives of the organisation in raising the 
standards of corporate governance and transparency. Their 
commitment and dedication has brought MSWG to new 
heights of professionalism within the Malaysian capital 
market.

Last but not least, I wish to thank my fellow Directors for 
their invaluable contribution and commitment during the 
year.

On behalf of the Board

Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Dr Sulaiman Mahbob
Chairman
1st March 2016
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The Board of Minority Shareholder Watchdog Group is fully committed to the highest standards of corporate governance 
in pursuing its main objectives of promoting shareholder activism and influencing good practices amongst the PLCs.  The 
Board acknowledges that it is imperative to be exemplary in its practices.

The Board of Directors is guided by the following:

CODE OF CONDUCT & ETHICS

1.	 The Directors acknowledge and accept the scope and extent of their duties as Directors. The Board has a 
responsibility to carry out an oversight function in the interests of MSWG, within the scope of its authority and 
consistent with its fiduciary duties. 

2.	 The Board is expected to adhere to the standards of loyalty, good faith, and the avoidance of conflict of interest 
that follow.

3.	 The Board Members of MSWG will:
•	 act in the best interests of and fulfil their fiduciary obligations to MSWG;
•	 act honestly, fairly, ethically and with integrity;
•	 conduct itself in a professional, courteous and respectful manner;
•	 comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations;
•	 act in good faith, responsibly, with due care, competence and diligence, without allowing independent judgment 

to be subordinated to other interests other than that of the Company;
•	 maintain high ethical and moral character, both professionally and personally, and act in a manner to enhance 

and maintain the reputation of MSWG;
•	 disclose any potential conflicts of interest, including those that they may have regarding any matters that may 

come before the Board, and abstain from discussion and voting on any matters in which they have or may have a 
conflict of interest;

•	 make available to and share with fellow Directors information as may be appropriate to ensure proper conduct 
and sound operation of MSWG and its Board of Directors;

•	 respect the confidentiality of information relating to the affairs of the Company acquired in the course of service as 
Directors, except when authorised or legally required to disclose such information; and

•	 not use confidential information acquired in the course of their service as Directors for their personal advantage. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
STATEMENT
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 BOARD COMPOSITION

1.	 The Board of Directors shall comprise directors with the requisite skills, competency, knowledge, experience 
and diversity of perspectives and who are able to discharge their fiduciary duties and responsibilities without 
any conflict of interest.

2.	 The maximum number of directors to be appointed to the Board shall be ten (10).

3.	 At least one third of the Board shall consist of independent Directors whose tenure shall not be more than 12 
years.

4.	 In accordance with MSWG’s activities, objectives, and the licensing requirements of the Capital Markets and 
Services Act 2007, at least one Board Member must hold a Capital Markets Services Representative’s (CMSR) 
license. 

5.	 The members of the Board shall be persons of reputable character and standing.

6.	 The Chairman of the Board shall be elected by members of the Board.

7.	 The Securities Commission of Malaysia must not have any objections to the appointment of a potential 
member to the Board.

8.	 Members of the Board should not sit on more than five Boards of public listed companies.

BOARD MEETINGS

1.	 The Board shall meet at least four (4) times a year.

2.	 The quorum shall be three including the Chairman.

3.	 Decisions in the Board meeting shall be based on majority of votes and in the event of an equality of votes the 
Chairman shall be entitled to the casting vote.

4.	 Notice of Board Meetings should be given at least 14 days before the date of the meeting.

5.	 Board papers are to be distributed at least seven (7) days before the meeting.

6.	 Each Director must be in attendance of at least 50% of the Board Meetings per annum in person.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
STATEMENT

DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT BOARD MEETINGS HELD IN 2015 

During the year, four (4) Board Meetings were held. The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer attended all Board 
Meetings. Attendance of Directors was as follows:

NOTE:
	 PRESENT
	 NOT PRESENT

DIRECTORS NO. OF MEETINGS % OF 
ATTENDANCE16/2/15 29/5/15 18/9/15 7/12/15

Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Dr Sulaiman Mahbob 100

Rita Benoy Bushon 100

Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Lodin Wok Kamaruddin 50

Dato’ Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow 100

Philip Koh Tong Ngee 75

Nor Hizam Hashim 75

Datuk’ Zakaria Sharif 
(Alternate Director to 
Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Lodin Wok Kamaruddin)

25
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COMPOSITION

The members of the NRC are as follows:-
•	Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Dr Sulaiman Mahbob – Chairman
•	Dato’ Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow – Member
•	Encik Nor Hizam Hashim - Member

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

1.	 To formulate the nomination, selection and succession policies of the Board, inclusive of the mix of skills, experience 
and other qualities to enable the Board to function efficiently.

2.	 To implement a formal approval process for the evaluation and effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the 
individual contribution of each Board member.

3.	 To review and evaluate the Board balance in terms of skill set/gender and composition and recommend new 
appointment/re-appointment of directors to the Board. 

4.	 To recommend to the Board a policy on Board protocols inclusive of tenure, other directorships and conflict of 
interest issues.

5.	 To ensure the existence of an appropriate framework and succession plan for the CEO and key management 
personnel.

6.	 To review and recommend to the Board a policy on human resource which will embrace, but not limited to, the 
need for recruitment and retention of the CEO and key management personnel with the right caliber, experience 
and quality to ensure effective and efficient management of the Company.

7.	 To provide adequate Board orientation programme on the Company’s activities for newly appointed directors.  
Briefing on the orientation programme may be conducted by the CEO.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Review and recommend the following:-
1.	 The remuneration of directors for approval at the Annual General Meeting of the Company.
2.	 Performance management framework/model including the setting of the appropriate performance target 

parameters and benchmark for the CEO at the start of each financial year.
3.	 Terms of employment of the CEO including the remuneration and benefits.
4.	 Policy on remuneration package for the employees of the Company.
5.	 Incentive compensation plan as appropriate for key management personnel.
6.	 Annual bonus payment for the CEO and key management personnel.

The NRC, within the scope of its terms of reference, is authorised to seek any relevant information it requires through 
Management. In this context, the NRC may engage consultants to obtain independent legal and other professional 
services as it requires at the expense of the company.

NOMINATION & REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE (NRC)
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NRC MEETINGS 

1.	 The NRC shall meet at least twice a year or as and when required.
2.	 The quorum for the NRC meeting shall be two. 
3.	 Other members of the Board, the CEO or key management executives may attend the meetings of the NRC on the 

invitation of the committee.
4.	 The Company Secretary shall be the Secretary of the NRC.
5.	 Notice and the papers for the meeting will be distributed to the committee members at least five (5) days prior to 

the date of the NRC meeting. 

During the year, two NRC meetings were held.  Attendance at the meetings was as follows:

NOTE:
	 PRESENT
	 NOT PRESENT

DIVIDEND

No dividend was declared or paid to the founding members for the year, as MSWG is a company limited by guarantee 
and has no share capital. 

NOMINATION & REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE (NRC)

DIRECTORS NO. OF MEETINGS % OF 
ATTENDANCE16/2/15 29/5/15

Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Dr Sulaiman Mahbob 100

Dato’ Gan Nyap Liou @ Gan Nyap Liow 100

En Nor Hizam Hashim 100
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The year 2015 was a year where priorities that were put in place four years ago came to fruition both in terms of investor 
stewardship and corporate stewardship, consequently echoing the theme for the 2015 Annual Report – ‘Driving 
Stewardship’. The launch of Malaysia’s first-ever Institutional Investors Code reflected further progress on the regional 
corporate governance front, with self-governance taking on a bigger and more proactive role as was espoused in the 
Corporate Governance Blueprint 2011.

 MSWG played a pivotal role in the launch of the Malaysian Code for Institutional Investors in 2014 and the formation of 
the Institutional Investor Council in 2015.   The main objective of the Council will be to drive governance in the investee 
companies and provide a platform for institutional investors to discuss on governance matters amongst others. 

During the year, MSWG continued to advocate and influence best practices through attending the companies’ general 
meetings, communicating through the Weekly E-Newsletters and pushing the agenda of corporate governance through 
the ASEAN CG Scorecard. 

MSWG will continue to remain focused to raise the corporate governance bar and best practices among public listed 
companies in Malaysia. 

The highlights of the operations and performance in brief for 2015:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS AND CEO’S MESSAGE

IN PERSPECTIVE
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

FUNDING FROM CAPITAL MARKET DEVELOPMENT FUND (CMDF) 
The CMDF agreed to continue the funding of MSWG’s operations and activities for the next three years that is from 2015 
to 2017 at RM5 million a year.

For the year 2015, after taking into account the funds of RM1.4 million returned to the CMDF, a net of RM3.6 million was 
received for the year.  The excess funds were returned to CMDF as MSWG was able to generate its own revenue during 
the years.

REVENUE
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015, MSWG generated revenue of RM1.15 million compared to RM1.32 million 
achieved in 2014. The RM0.17 million difference was due to limited forums held during the year. Nevertheless, it was 
compensated by the generation of higher subscriber fees with value added services including specialised forums on 
corporate governance to Company Directors and senior management tailored to the requirements of the company.  
Going forward, MSWG would endeavour to increase the subscribers’ base.

The breakdown of revenue generated by MSWG for 2015 and comparative figures in 2014 and 2013 has been illustrated 
in the following charts. 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS AND 
CEO’S MESSAGE
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EXPENDITURE
For 2015, the total expenditure was RM5.82 million compared to RM5.01 million in 2014, an increase of 16 per cent. The 
increase was mainly due to expenses incurred for the professional fees for GST’s implementation, the establishment 
costs for the Institutional Investor Council and the ASEAN CG Scorecard project which had more companies that were 
reviewed.  There were also additional research projects that were conducted during the year.  The detailed breakdown 
has been provided in the Financial Statement.

CORPORATE MONITORING

COMPANIES MONITORED
For the year, MSWG had 262 companies under its monitoring portfolio comprising about 25 per cent of the total number 
of companies listed on Bursa Malaysia, including large and medium as well as small cap companies representing about 
90 per cent of Bursa’s total market capitalisation.   The selection of companies to be monitored was based on the 
following criteria:

•	FBM KLCI companies
•	MCG Index Top 100 companies
•	Companies that subscribers wanted monitored under the Subscribers’ List
•	Companies that warranted monitoring based on complaints received from shareholders.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS AND 
CEO’S MESSAGE

Publications/

Forums

Subscriber Services

Others

559,188

954,587

577,658

464,756

232,864

126,305

125,710

2013

2014

2015

135, 198

277,366

Source of Revenue
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During the year, MSWG analysts attended 344 general meetings, of which 82 were extraordinary general meetings.   A host 
of crucial issues related to strategy, finance and governance were raised for the benefit of all stakeholders, particularly 
minority shareholders.  Questions raised by MSWG and the companies’ responses were presented by their respective 
Boards at the meetings and uploaded on MSWG’s as well as on the companies’ websites.  

MSWG continued to engage shareholders by conducting shareholder forums to address major corporate issues, publishing 
regular newsletters and CEO Columns in mainstream newspapers to widen the reach.  Key issues were discussed and 
highlighted to bring about awareness so that shareholders can raise such concerns at the general meetings. 

Overall, almost all companies that were monitored had presented and responded to the issues raised by MSWG at their 
respective meetings. This had raised awareness amongst the shareholders to assist them in making decisions on voting.  
Almost all of these companies provided replies to the questions raised, demonstrating their readiness to adhere to best 
practice principles voluntarily. A total of 47 Companies compared to 30 last year published the minutes of their AGMs in 
line with the best practices recommended under the ASEAN CG Scorecard.  

HIGHLIGHTS OF ISSUES 2015
During the year, MSWG received a total of 44 complaints from minority investors, both corporate and retail wanting 
MSWG to take up their issues collectively. These complaints centred on the following issues:

•	Unfair offers on privatisation
•	Concerns on delisting of companies 
•	Conflict of interest situations
•	Excessive directors’ remuneration without clear justifications
•	Concerns over large private placements to undisclosed third parties
•	Removal of independent directors by major shareholders without appropriate explanations
•	Concerns on time commitment of Independent Directors

PRE AND POST AGM/EGM REPORTS
The pre Annual General Meeting Reports or pre-AGM Reports provided analysis of companies’ Annual Reports for the 
AGMs.  It also provided analysts the queries to be raised at the AGMs.

For 2015, 258 pre-AGM reports were prepared which provided MSWG’s voting on resolutions at the general meetings.  The 
key information highlighted in the report had enabled subscribers, both institutional and retail to obtain information 
such as the proposed resolutions to be tabled, brief particulars of directors and their membership of various committees, 
analysis of companies’ CG practices as well as highlights of the company’s financial performance.  It was also used as a 
reference document for analysts when attending general meetings.

During the year 367 letters were sent to companies to seek clarification on issues at the AGMs.  These issues related to 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS AND 
CEO’S MESSAGE
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financial and governance matters.  All companies had responded to the queries and shared with other shareholders 
either via formal presentations or uploading the answers on the website or distributing the replies to the shareholders 
that were present.

The post AGM/EGM reports provided an independent overview on the proceedings of the general meetings including 
the questions raised, responses by the Board of Directors and voting results.  These reports were also made available to 
MSWG’s corporate and institutional subscribers.  During the year, 258 reports were produced.

AGM/EGM WEEKLY WATCH
MSWG continued publishing its general meetings Weekly Watch or AGM/EGM Weekly Watch in The New Straits Times 
and Nanyang Siang Pau (Mandarin version) newspapers.  During the year we had extended our Weekly Watch to Focus 
Malaysia every Wednesday.  In total, MSWG was given 110 columns of publication in these newspapers.  The columns 
listed the time and venue of upcoming meetings including extracts of questions relating to financial performance or 
corporate governance practices prior to the companies’ AGMs/EGMs. Shareholders were alerted of these AGMs and it 
had encouraged them to prepare for the upcoming meetings. These questions were also uploaded on MSWG’s website 
so that investors could make reference and ask follow-up questions.

E-NEWSLETTERS
MSWG continued to publish its online newsletter, The Observer, on a weekly basis. Since 2011, the newsletters had been 
providing readers with weekly corporate happenings on the local and international front.  It also provides MSWG’s views 
on current corporate exercises, articles and commentaries on market, economic, regulatory and governance updates.

The Observer has now been widely recognised as an important source of information and research on CG issues, thereby, 
becoming an effective tool to raise MSWG’s profile, particularly in communicating its stand on corporate and governance 
matters. The e-newsletters and the CEO message had been widely distributed to over 2,000 recipients with more than 
200,000 readerships including subscribers, fund managers, institutional investors, brokerage firms, universities, PLCs 
Board and the media.  The CEO’s message had been translated in the Malay language in the Berita Harian bi-weekly to 
provide the excerpts on key matters to readers of the Malay language paper in addition to the weekly columns in the 
Nanyang Siang Pau in the Mandarin language.

During the year, MSWG published 25 such articles in Berita Harian and 50 in Nanyang Siang Pau, as well as 32 
commentaries in other major daily newspapers. 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS AND 
CEO’S MESSAGE
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INVESTOR EDUCATION PROGRAMMES & FORUMS

As part of the education dissemination process to bring about more informed investors, MSWG had continued to embark 
on programmes through various channels.

FORUMS
In 2015, MSWG conducted 6 free retail forums for investors on material corporate exercises of companies.  The Company 
would continue to provide such platform for the retail shareholders.  In addition MSWG had conducted various forums 
and dialogues with corporate boards and institutional investors on corporate and governance issues during the year.

COMPANY ENGAGEMENTS
Company visits were conducted as part of MSWG’s annual engagement process to better understand the companies’ 
matters as well as having active dialogue with the board of directors.  

During the year, MSWG conducted 19 of such company visits in the Klang Valley, Sarawak and Johor. The company 
engagements were useful and relevant as they provided a good platform to better understand matters on company 
business, industry issues as well as corporate governance raising minority shareholders’ concerns.   During such visits, 
MSWG also took the opportunity to explain on the benchmarking via the ASEAN CG Scorecard. 

SPEAKING ENGAGEMENTS
In 2015, MSWG’s representatives were involved in and participated in 18 speaking engagements and continued to 
maintain close ties and working relationships with various international partners like the International Corporate 
Governance Network (ICGN), the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), Asian Development 
Bank (ADB), Asian Corporate Governance Association (ACGA) and Securities Investors Association Singapore (SIAS).  It 
also had participated in dialogues and seminars with local institutions such as the Malaysian Institute of Accountants 
and the Securities Industry Development Council.

SUBSCRIBER SERVICES
During the year, the value proposition for the Institutional and Corporate Subscribers were further enhanced and 
more value-added services were included.  The subscription fees had been increased in line with the enhanced value 
proposition.  As at end of December 2015, the Company had 5 Institutional and 60 Corporate Subscribers.  The number 
of Institutional and Corporate Subscribers had dropped as time was required for the change to be effected based on 
higher subscription fees and enhanced value proposition.

The number of retail and student subscribers continued to grow as the subscribers realised the benefits that they would 
gain through the retail education programmes and forums as well as e-weekly newsletters, which helped them in gaining 
deeper understanding of corporate proposals and companies’ issues.  For the year, the retail subscription was given on 
a complimentary basis.  The base for retail subscribers had grown to 656 subscribers in 2015. 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS AND 
CEO’S MESSAGE
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SUBSCRIBER SERVICES CATEGORIES
•	 Institutional Subscribers (organisations and institutions)
•	Corporate Subscribers (public-listed companies)
•	Retail Subscribers (individuals)
•	Student Subscribers

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS AND 
CEO’S MESSAGE

Kumpulan Wang Persaraan (Diperbadankan)
Lembaga Tabung Haji
Pertubuhan Keselamatan Sosial
Permodalan Nasional Berhad
Securities Commission Malaysia

In
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na
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rib
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Affin Holdings Berhad
AMMB Holdings Berhad
Astro Malaysia Holdings Berhad
Axiata Group Berhad
Bintulu Port Holdings Berhad
Bonia Corporation Berhad
Boustead Heavy Industries Berhad
Boustead Holdings Berhad
British American Tobacco (M) Berhad
Bursa Malaysia Berhad 
Cahya Mata Sarawak Berhad
Chemical Company of Malaysia Berhad
CIMB Group Holdings Berhad
Concrete Engineering Products Berhad
Daibochi Plastics and Packagings Industries Berhad
Dayang Enterprise Holdings Berhad
DRB Hicom Berhad
Eastern & Oriental Berhad
Felda Global Ventures Holdings Berhad
Genting Berhad
Greenyield Berhad
Hock Heng Stone Industries Berhad
IOI Corporation Berhad
Jaya Tiasa Holdings Berhad
KKB Engineering Berhad
Kulim (M) Berhad
Kumpulan FIMA Berhad
KPJ Healthcare Berhad
Lion Diversified Holdings Berhad
Malayan Banking Berhad
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Malaysia Airport Holdings Berhad 
Malaysia Building Society Berhad
Malaysia Smelting Corporation Berhad
Malaysian Resources Corporation Berhad
Maxis Berhad
Master-Pack Group Berhad
Media Prima Berhad
Muhibbah Engineering Berhad
Oriental Holdings Berhad
Paramount Corporation Berhad
Parkson Holdings Berhad 
Perdana Petroleum Berhad
Petra Energy Berhad 
Petronas Chemicals Berhad
Petronas Dagangan Berhad
Public Bank Berhad
RHB Bank Berhad
S P Setia Berhad
Sarawak Plantations Berhad
Sime Darby Berhad 
Syarikat Takaful Malaysia Berhad
Telekom Malaysia Berhad
Tenaga Nasional Berhad
Top Glove Corporation Berhad
TSH Resources Berhad
Turiya Berhad
UEM Sunrise Berhad
UMW Corporation Sdn Berhad
Utusan Melayu (Malaysia) Berhad
YTL Corporation Berhad 
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ASEAN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE SCORECARD 2015
MSWG continued with the task of assessing Malaysian PLCs. For the 2015 assessment, 870 companies or (94%) of all 
PLCs were assessed based on disclosures in the annual reports as at 31 July 2015, information available on corporate 
websites and announcements on Bursa Malaysia as of 15 November 2015.  The assessments had been able to 
benchmark Malaysian corporates with its peers in the region.  MSWG used these common best practise parameters to 
help companies understand the need for having the relevant corporate disclosures.  At the same time MSWG showcased 
exemplary corporates for others to emulate. 

For the first time, these Top 50 ASEAN companies were announced and recognised at the inaugural ASEAN CG Conference 
& Awards event held in Manila in November 2015.  MSWG had been integral in this development and will continue to be 
an integral part of this process.

As in the past, in 2015 MSWG also had its Annual MSWG-ASEAN Corporate Transparency Index, Findings and Recognition 
2015 – the Malaysian Chapter, with the theme Excellence, Growth and Sustainability held on 10 December 2015. MSWG 
continued to recognise outstanding organisations and individuals that had demonstrated leadership excellence in 
delivering long-term success and shareholder value by adhering to the highest standards of corporate governance. 

For 2015, there were a total of 13 categories of awards, including Excellence and Merit Awards for Long-term Value 
Creation, ESG Practices, AGM Conduct, Minutes Disclosure and Board Diversity.  In addition, persons who had contributed 
to the higher standards in the capital market were also recognised.  

For the domestic market, the CG Transparency Index 2015 for the Top 100 PLCs showed an increase from 76.82 points in 
2014 to 80.41 points in 2015, showing that overall corporate transparency had increased.  The improvements included 
those on disclosure of AGM minutes (26% in 2014 to 38% in 2015), gender diversity (11.7% in 2014 to 13.4% in 2015) 
and separation of Chairman and CEO roles among others.  The full results can be obtained on MSWG’s website at www.
mswg.org.my. 

Top Overall CG Performance Winners

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS AND 
CEO’S MESSAGE
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The Institutional Investor Council Malaysia (IIC) was established during the year on 3 July 2015, a follow-up on the 
formulation of the Malaysian Code for Institutional Investors.  The IIC represents the interests of institutional investors 
on matters affecting them and acts as a conduit between policy makers, regulators and institutional investors in relation 
to broader corporate governance issues. It is expected to provide strategic direction as well as advocate the adoption of 
the Malaysian Code for Institutional Investors. 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS AND 
CEO’S MESSAGE

Kumpulan Wang Persaraan (Diperbadankan)(KWAP)

Members of the Institutional Investor Council

Signing Ceremony as a signatory to the Malaysian Code for Institutional Investors by Asset Owners

ValueCap Sdn Bhd

INSTITUTIONAL INVESTOR COUNCIL MALAYSIA
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The Council comprised 14 members from the industry, and is chaired by the CEO of Kumpulan Wang Persaraan 
(Diperbadankan). The Council advocates institutional investors to become signatories of the Code, as a reflection of 
their commitment towards becoming responsible investors.  

The signatories to the Malaysian Code for Institutional Investors as at end 2015 were as follows:
1.	 Hermes Fund Managers
2.	 Hermes Equity Ownership Services
3.	 Aberdeen Asset Management Sdn Bhd
4.	 Legal & General Investment Management
5.	 BNP Paribas Investment Partners Malaysia Sdn Bhd
6.	 BNP Paribas Investment Partners Najmah Malaysia Sdn Bhd
7.	 Kumpulan Wang Persaraan ( Diperbadankan )
8.	 ValueCAP Sdn Bhd

OTHER CAPITAL MARKET ACTIVITIES

CONSULTATIVE DRAFTS

MSWG provided feedback and comments on several consultative papers during the year both local and foreign including 
the following:-

•	Proposed Regulatory Framework for Equity Crowdfunding issued by Securities Commission Malaysia.
•	Proposed Amendments to the Listing Requirements on Sustainability Statement in Annual Reports and 

Sustainability Reporting Guide issued by Bursa Malaysia
•	Draft Revised OECD Principles of Corporate Governance issued by OECD
•	The ICGN Global Stewardship Code

PUBLICATIONS & RESEARCH

During the year, MSWG embarked on several research projects to further promote its “Think Tank and Research” role 
and to address the lack of research materials on Corporate Governance issues in Malaysia. In doing so, MSWG hopes to 
contribute and be the catalyst to encourage more research driven efforts undertaken by institutions with the support of 
PLCs in the area of Corporate Governance.  In 2015, three publications were embarked upon by MSWG as below: 

•	Malaysian-ASEAN Corporate Governance Report 2015
This report highlights findings on the assessment of corporate governance practices of 870 companies listed on 
Bursa Malaysia.  The report will be published in the first quarter of 2016.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS AND 
CEO’S MESSAGE
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•	Report of AGM Practices by Malaysian Companies in 2015
This report is a brief guidance on the Dos and Don’ts of directors and shareholders when attending AGMs. It also 
included the prevailing practices and solutions to facilitate AGMs being an essential part of the CG process.  This 
report was published in 2015 and uploaded on the website.

•	Guidance on Annual Report
This report is intended to serve as a guide to companies on the salient features to be incorporated in the preparation 
of Annual Reports.  The report is expected to be completed in mid-2016.

In addition, MSWG also embarked on a project to enhance its resource centre by stocking its Library with more books 
mainly centred on corporate matters.  These efforts were undertaken to ensure that the resource centre would continue 
to support MSWG’s aim of establishing the company’s E-Learning platform.

MSWG WEBSITE REVAMP AND ENHANCEMENT

With the aim to enhance its web services, an on-line survey had been carried out by MSWG to obtain feedback from the 
relevant stakeholders.  The results of the on-line survey showed that the Company’s website needed enhanced features 
so that it can be user friendly.   

The CMDF had agreed to allocate funding for the Company to improve the overall website infrastructure.  MSWG had 
taken the necessary action to revamp its IT infrastructure to support its future projects as well as to cater to the digitalised 
processes. 

The revamp would include an enhanced interface, with interactive online forums, live chats, video tutorials and 
e-learning capacity.  MSWG is also looking into developing its Document Management System (DMS) by merging it with 
the new Website.  It would create a centralised management system process in terms of documentation and information 
storing and retrieving for MSWG’s operation.  The work had commenced and the project is expected to be completed by 
mid-June 2016.

ACCOUNTING SYSTEM AND GST COMPLIANT

The accounting system to accommodate the GST’s requirements had been put in place well before the effective 
implementation date of 1 April 2015.  To facilitate the compliance, PricewaterhouseCoopers Tax Consultant was 
appointed to provide advice on GST-related matters.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS AND 
CEO’S MESSAGE
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HUMAN CAPITAL

STAFF STRENGTH

MSWG practices diversity in its staff force.  At Management level, the Company had attained a 50:50 gender balance.  
Its incentive scheme and remuneration packages had been in line with the mid-range averages of the industry. This 
had enabled MSWG to have a lower turnover and at the same time attract the right calibre of personnel.  MSWG also 
engaged part-time professionals to complement the current work force.  They included legal experts, accountants and 
IT personnel.  These Associates were engaged on mutually agreed terms whereby they would be able to commit their 
time to complete their tasks on a part-time basis.  In addition, this arrangement had enabled the Company to utilise 
the expert services without overhead costs, and had enabled MSWG to attract the female work-force who, hitherto, 
would have not found working full-time as attractive.  It had also enabled MSWG to bring in the necessary people to tide 
through the AGM seasons which usually were clustered.

As at end 2015, MSWG had a total of 21 full time staff, of which 70 percent were at management and analysts categories. 
Going forward, the Company would take steps to further strengthen its core team in the area of research and corporate 
governance in order to support a new era of driving stewardship in the Malaysian capital market.

STAFF DEVELOPMENT/TRAINING

MSWG Analysts had been encouraged to obtain the Investment Representative Licence under the Capital Market 
Services Act.  To facilitate analysts to sit for these examinations, study leave had been granted and fees reimbursed 
upon successful passing of the modules.   

In addition, senior management and analysts were required to up-skill their speaking competency.  They were 
encouraged to speak at forums on a regular basis to widen their knowledge and competency levels at the same time.  
As part of succession planning all management personnel were required to work in teams and also have a mentor-
mentee relationship with junior personnel. This system had exposed the junior analysts with the necessary on-the-job 
training and at the same time promoted information and knowledge sharing between the team members. 

As part of the Company’s activities to nurture talent in its workforce, two of its personnel were selected to participate 
in the Peneraju Professional Capital Markets Services Representative’s License in Corporate Finance and Investment 
Advice Programme organised by Yayasan Peneraju under the initiative of the Bumiputra Economic Transformation 
Roadmap.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS AND 
CEO’S MESSAGE
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INTERNSHIP PROGRAMME

In 2015, the Company embarked on an internship programme to provide opportunities to students to be exposed to 
corporate governance and shareholders’ issues enabling them to obtain first-hand exposure and experience on capital 
market issues.  Four students who participated in the 3-week internship programme were trained and given the exposure 
to assess public listed companies using the ASEAN CG Scorecard and to attend the AGMs of several companies. Going 
forward, we would be extending this opportunity to undergraduates to participate in MSWG’s internship programme and 
steps had been taken to pursue this effort with the local universities.

STAFF SOCIAL ACTIVITIES

In July 2015, the MSWG Sports Club donated funds via collection from the staff to Sekolah Menengah Kebangsaan Taman 
Semarak of Nilai, Negeri Sembilan for the rehabilitation programme of students between the ages of 13-17 who were 
unable to read and write in English and Bahasa Malaysia. The donation was used to purchase reference books and other 
educational materials.  Internal games competitions such as bowling and table tennis were also organised amongst all 
levels of personnel for team building and to foster a spirit of camaraderie. 

APPRECIATION

The year 2015 had been another eventful year for MSWG.  I wish to personally thank all my staff and associates at MSWG 
for coming together as a committed team and at the same time building professionalism with a passion. 

I would also like to thank the relevant stakeholders that had supported MSWG.

Rita Benoy Bushon
Chief Executive Officer
1st March 2016

			 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS AND 
CEO’S MESSAGE
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CALENDAR OF EVENTS

Chinese New Year Luncheon with Stakeholders

Number of AGMs & EGMs attended -  33

JANUARY TO MARCH

EXCERPT OF MSWG MONITORING LIST OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETINGS FOR 2015

Presentation Ceremony for Employee Recognition 
and Appreciation

Meeting with CCM Duopharma Biotech 
Berhad’s CEO and team on the 
acquisition of Chemical Company of 
Malaysia Berhad’s pharmaceutical units

MARCH
04

MSWG’s Board after its Meeting
MARCH
12
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Company Visits to Sarawak-based PLCs
MARCH
24-26

Sarawak Oil Palm Berhad Sarawak Plantation Berhad

Zecon BerhadKKB Engineering Berhad

Bintulu Port Holdings Berhad Cahya Mata Sarawak Berhad
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APRIL TO JUNE

JULY TO SEPTEMBER

Number of AGMs & EGMs attended -  33

Institutional Investor Pro-Tem Committee Meeting
APRIL
09

Number of AGMs & EGMs attended -  179

Number of AGMs & EGMs attended -  58

EXCERPT OF MSWG MONITORING LIST OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETINGS FOR 2015

EXCERPT OF MSWG MONITORING LIST OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETINGS FOR 2015
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Establishment of Institutional Investor 
Council (IIC) and 1st IIC MeetingJULY

03

Presentation of book donation to the 
students of rehabilitation learning 
programme of Sekolah Menengah 
Kebangsaan Taman Semarak by MSWG 
Sports Club President

JULY
31

Corporate Subscribers Retail Subscribers

MSWG Hari Raya Open House 
AUGUST
11 - 12

Karyon Industries Berhad 

Company Visits to Johor-based 
SEPTEMBER
12

Kulim Malaysia Berhad
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SEPTEMBER TO DECEMBER

Number of AGMs & EGMs attended -  71

Engagement Meeting with Securities 
Commission (SC) and Institutional Investor 
Council  Working Committee on Corporate 
Governance Priorities 2020

OCTOBER 
13

2nd Institutional Investor Council Meeting
OCTOBER 
19

KWAP signed up to the Malaysian Code for Institutional 
Investors

ValueCap signed up to the Malaysian Code for Institutional 
Investors

EXCERPT OF MSWG MONITORING LIST OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETINGS FOR 2015
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Meeting with Taiwan Stock Exchange (TWSE) and Securities & Futures Investors Protection Center (SFIPC)
NOVEMBER 
05

1st Adjudication Meeting 2nd Adjudication Meeting

Adjudication Committee Meeting for Malaysia-ASEAN Corporate Governance 
Index 2015NOVEMBER

18 & 30

Launching of “Report of AGM Practices by 
Malaysian Companies”DECEMBER 

10
DECEMBER 
18

Meeting with representatives of Hanoi Stock 
Exchange  
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Axiata Group BerhadTop Glove Corporation Berhad

CIMB Group Holdings Berhad

Bursa Malaysia Berhad

Engagement Meetings

Telekom Malaysia Berhad
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Malaysia-ASEAN Corporate Governance Index 2015 and Awards Ceremony 
at the Sime Darby Convention CentreDECEMBER 

10

Top Overall CG Performance Winners

Merit Awardees For CG Disclosures

CEO of the Year

Tan Sri Dato’ Sri Zamzamzairani Mohd Isa
(Telekom Malaysia Berhad)

Industry Excellence Winners
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2nd OECD-Southeast Asia Corporate Governance Initiative

Malaysia Investment & Stock Exchange Expo

Global Corporate Governance Conference 

Corporate Governance: Balancing Rules and Practices

Session on Implementation of ASEAN Corporate Governance 
Scorecard  

ACGA 2015 Conference

The 20th Malaysian Capital Market Summit

Speaking Engagements
MAY
TO 
DECEMBER
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Nanyang Siang Pau

Berita Harian

New Straits Times

Focus Malaysia

The Observer

WEEKLY WATCH/CEO’s COLUMN 

评 论

虽然在最新的年报里 ， 华运控股处于每股净

现金 1.09 人民币 （约每股 61 仙 ） ， 净资产 1.73

人民币 （约每股 98 仙） ， 我们看到大股东林火枝

先生 ， 也是公司的执行主席 ， 在 2015 年 6 月 17

日， 将他自 IPO 的 50.5%股权， 减少到 18.575%，

这引起了为何他要这么做的疑问。

现金充裕

我们关注华云控股削减面值的建议 ， 以让公

司有更大的弹性来筹资 ， 虽然事实上公司的营运

开销 （OPEX） 和资本开销 （CAPEX） 在上个财

政年显著的减少了。

公司也持有大量现金 ， 至今仍没有完全使用

从 TDRP 募集来的资金。

快讯： 关于进行中的企业交易

华运控股 （MSPORTS， 5150， 主板消费产品股 ）

建议修改 2011 年 11 月 30 日 ， 从台湾存托凭证计划

（TDRP） 筹得的资金用途， 以用作营运资本。

这项修改建议 ， 允许华云控股将未使用的 1168 万

令吉， 转用于营运资本。

随着修改建议之后， 华云控股也建议削减面值和雇

员认股计划 （ESOS） 。

华运控股在 2015 年 8 月 20 日举行股东特别大会

来讨论上述事项。

●小股东权益监管机构持有文

中提及公司少数股额。

●本栏简报与内容版权属小股

东权益监管机构 ， 所表达的

意见是采自大众媒体。

●我们将尽力确保所发布的资

讯准确及最新 ， 但不担保信

息和意见的精确和完整。

●内含资讯和意见仅供参考 ，

并非买卖建议 ， 或认购相关

证券 、 投资或其他金融工具

的认购邀约。

更 多 详 情 可 查 询 ：

www.mswg.org.my

欢迎回馈意见：

mswg.ceo@mswg.org.my

免责声明

S23

财经周刊

17·08·2015 星期一

BUSINESS WEEKLY

Weekly Watch 一周检视Weekly Watch 一周检视

艾芬买 TRX 土地引争议

艾芬控股 （AFFIN， 5185， 主板金

融股 ） 上周宣布 ， 艾芬银行是根据 C

H Williams Talhar & Wong 的建议 ， 购

买 TRX 的土地。

在每方尺 4700 令吉的价位 ， 这是

历来吉隆坡市中心里其中一单最贵的

交易。

艾芬抗辩说， 该土地的收购价是土

地市值的 2.3%折价。

它也提供了独立估价师使用比较方

法和剩余估值方法的估值报告。

基于之前类似的交易价格更便宜，

我们相信 ， 对作出收购价钱基础的假

设应该更透明化。

同时 ， 也置疑在目前的不确定环

境 ， 加上艾芬的现金储备正减少时 ，

艾芬是否还需要一个公司座标？

我们也相信 ， 艾芬比 1MDB 更处

于优越的讨价还价地位 ， 因此 ， 可以

为小股东争取更好的交易。

另外， 上述交易也引起企业监管的

关注和利益冲突， 丹斯里罗丁是 1MDB

和艾芬的共同董事 。 他既是 1MDB 的

主席 ， 也是艾芬控股的副主席 ， 以及

武装部队基金局 （LTAT） 的总执行长

（控制了艾芬控股 35%的股权） 。

因此， 基于这是个相关人士交易，

通常寻找第二或者第三估值 ， 是符合

逻辑的 ， 而且在目前 ， 普遍上产业价

格已经滑落之下， 应避免引起争议。

股汇齐跌国人关注

另外， 许多马来西亚人非常关注近

来股市和令吉的惊人跌幅 。 我们的货

币是今年亚洲表现最差的 ， 而截至 6

月 ， 基金外流已经超越 2014 年全年数

目。

我觉得欣慰 ， 看到国家银行总裁洁

蒂在上周的新闻发布会里 ， 宣布经济

增长有 4.9%， 超越市场预测 ， 也给予

保证 ， 不会有资本管制或令吉挂钩以

阻止令吉下跌 ， 因为她觉得有弹性的

利率， 将帮助适应外围发展。

老经验董事独立冷静

不过 ， 令吉的表现将受到紧密观

察 。 洁蒂也对储备金水平感到舒适 ，

同时她也提到 ， 国家银行将高度监督

高负债实体包括 1MDB。

在目前痛苦的经济和政治时代 ， 我

相 信 经 验 是 有 意 义 的 。 因 此 保 持 冷

静。

《 大 马 焦 点 》 周 刊 （ Focus

Malaysia ） 最近的一篇文章 ， 报道了

许多马来西亚公司 ， 特别是由家族控

制的， 有不少银发一族担任董事。

理论上， 这些董事需要在自己的角

色里提供援助时 ， 他们能够维持冷静

的独立性 ， 经验的确是长期累积下来

的。

当关系到如何很好的管理现金流，

或者将公司资金发挥最好的作用 ， 以

及避开行业或管理陷阱 ， 老资格董事

的冷静和经验 ， 将肯定给予稳定的影

响力。

再者， 根据不同的工业， 一个出色

的董事部 ， 将拥有老手和新血 ， 不管

是科技公司或实体的公司。

同时， 当董事部有效的执行任务，

这种组合将形成公司增长的精华———甚

至是生存的条件。

丽塔

前线把关

总执行长●丽塔

以下是本周小股东权益监管机构 （MSWG） 的观察名单 ， 这里

只简要的概括小股东权益监管机构所关注的重点。

读者可以查询 MSWG 的网站， www.mswg.org.my， 以得到对

公司所提呈的问题的详细内容。

本周重点观察股东大会 （8 月 17 日至 21 日）

本周股东大会/特大

公司 提出的要点/课题

Enra 集团

（ENRA）

（股东大会）

比较 2014 年的 47.2%总赚幅， 2015 年的 31.1%较低， 主要是产业发展成

本大幅增加了 3660 万令吉， 或者 135.5%。

请董事部解释成本增加的原因。

宝利纤维

（Poly）

（股东大会）

在主席献词里， 提到集团将寻找改善产业发展价值的机会。

请董事部对这些产业提供更详细的资料， 包括将面对的挑战。

大马银行

（AMBANK）

（股东大会/特

大）

公司会对赚幅受压以及分期付款和房屋贷款市场趋弱采取什么对策？

这些项目占了贷款的 45.1%， 或者总值 396 亿令吉。

请解释以下课题：

（i） 请解释公司贷款组合的风险等级， 和首选及非首选的策略， 避险所带

来的实际成绩是什么？ 请解释对个贷款部门所采取的努力？

（ii） 请解释自 2014 年起， 批发银行总拨备率逐渐上升的趋势？

（iii） 过去 9 个月银行在家债的资产品质如何？ 这部门的涉及部分巨大， 介

于今年总贷款、 预付款和融资的 51.7%。

华运控股

（MSPORTS）

（特别大会）

1.请进一步解释建议削减面值的理由。

我们注意到公司并没有完全使用从台湾存托凭证计划里筹募的资金。

2.请解释如果公司在未来进行私下配售计划， 董事部如何减低对目前股东

的冲淡效应？

3.假设雇员认股计划全面实行， 董事部可以对非利益股东解释可能产生的

冲淡效应？

联合马六甲

（UMCCA）

（股东大会）

在年报第 27 页的炼油厂数据显示， 2015 年原棕油和棕仁油的生产量以及

榨油率比 2014 年低。

（i） 请问较低生产量和榨油率的原因？

（ii） 公司将采取什么对策来改善炼油厂的生产率？

（iii） 预测 2016 年的棕油产量和榨油率是多少？

IJM 种植

（IJMPlnt）

（股东大会）

根据年报第 6 页的种植数据， 未来印尼对公司盈利的贡献将很显著。 董事

部请提供以下关于印尼营运的资料：

（i） 未种植的园地面积和未来的种植计划。

（ii） 2016 年将要成熟的园地和将成为主要生产区的年轻油棕数量。

（iii） 2016 年的鲜果串和棕油产量预测？

关注华运削面值建议

 
 

 
 
10 April 2015 

KEMASKINI MAKLUMAT PASARAN DAN KAWAL SELIA 

BANK NEGARA MALAYSIA (BNM): NISBAH LIPUTAN KECAIRAN ATAU ‘LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO 
(LCR)’ 

Pada 3 April 2015 BNM telah memuktamadkan standard LCR, setelah mengambilkira maklumbalas serta 
cadangan-cadangan yang diterima semasa proses konsultasi awam. BNM telah menerima maklumbalas 
secara bertulis dan lisan daripada lebih daripada 40 responden semasa proses konsultasi tersebut. Para 
responden secara umumnya menyokong cadangan-cadangan yang telah dibentangkan di dalam Kertas 
Konsep tersebut. 

LCR merupakan keperluan kuantitatif yang berfungsi untuk memastikan institusi perbankan memegang 
aset cair berkualiti tinggi yang mencukupi untuk menahan senario tekanan kecairan yang tinggi 
meliputi tempoh 30-hari pada kedua-dua tahap entiti dan entiti yang disatukan. 

Keperluan LCR akan berkuatkuasa pada 1 Jun 2015. 

[Sumber: Penerbitan standard LCR di laman web BNM pada 3 April 2015]  

 

PANDANGAN RINGKAS MSWG MENGENAI TRANSAKSI KORPORAT SEMASA  

MULPHA LAND BERHAD (MLB) 

Penasihat Bebas, MainStreet Adviser Sdn Bhd telah memberikan pandangan bahawa tawaran 
penswastaan adalah tidak adil dan tidak munasabah. Di dalam Pekeliling Penasihat Bebas bertarikh 6 
April 2015, Penasihat Bebas telah menasihatkan pemegang saham minoriti untuk menolak tawaran 
tersebut pada harga RM0.497 bagi setiap saham MLB mewakili diskaun sebanyak RM0.203 atau 29% 
kepada nilai aset bersih terealisasi (RNAV) MLB sebanyak RM159.26 juta atau RM0.70 bagi setiap saham 
MLB. 

Selain itu, Harga Tawaran mewakili premium yang berada antara 2.16% hingga 8.71% kepada jumlah 
harga purata wajaran saham MLB bagi 1-bulan, 3-bulan, 6-bulan dan 1-tahun. 

[Sumber: Pengumuman MLB di laman web Bursa Malaysia pada 6 April 2015]  

KOMEN MSWG: 

 
 

 
 
30th January 2015 
    MESSAGE FROM THE CEO 

Bursa has announced the amendments to its Listing Requirements (LR) effective 27 January 2015 with 
some coming into effect from 1 July 2015. 

Bursa believes that liberalising some of the LR is timely because of the improved corporate governance 
culture in Malaysia.  We would like to stress that investor protection cannot be compromised which is 
Bursa’s key role. 

One of the most important amendments was on Related Party Transactions (RPTs). We noted that the 
threshold limits were increased in line with materiality and one of the pertinent threshold limits was 
on common director where the threshold was increased from 1% to 5%, whereas for transactions 
relating to the target companies and connected parties, the threshold was increased from 5% to 10% 
per transaction. 

We believe that the increase of threshold limits would now place more emphasis on the disinterested 
directors, especially the independent directors who are the company’s first line of defence. 

As most RPTs would be within the Board’s purview, they would have to play a more vigilant role in 
ensuring that such transactions are carried out at arm’s length and not detrimental to the disinterested 
shareholders including the minorities. 

Foreign Listings which have been an area of concern would now have stringent requirements for 
continued listing.  This would include having at least two independent resident directors, one of whom 
must be in the Audit Committee.  Also external auditors appointed must have international affiliations 
and recognised by the Audit Oversight Board (AOB).  We are also pleased to note that appointment and 
removal of external auditors must now obtain prior approval from the shareholders. 

We are also positive on the requirements for companies undertaking major disposals to conduct 
valuations in the event these companies have substantial real estates. 

Regards, 

Rita 
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ARTICLES / COMMENTARIES

Focus Malaysia

Berita Harian
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The Sun

The StarNew Straits Times

China Press

The Malaysian Reserve
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BADAN PENGAWAS PEMEGANG SAHAM MINORITI BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia as a company limited by guarantee) 
 
BADAN PENGAWAS PEMEGANG SAHAM MINORITI BERHAD 

(Incorporated in Malaysia as a company limited by guarantee) 
 
The Directors hereby submit their report together with the audited financial statements of the 
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2015. 
 
 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY 
 
The principal activity is to promote corporate governance in companies through shareholder activism 
acting in the interest of the minority shareholders as an integral part to the development of the capital 
market. 
 
There were no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year. 
 
 
FINANCIAL RESULTS 
 
 RM 
 
Surplus for the financial year 746,896 
 ═══════ 
 
 
DIVIDENDS 
 
In accordance with the Company’s Memorandum of Association, no dividends are payable to the 
members of the Company. 
 
 
MOVEMENTS ON RESERVES AND PROVISIONS 
 
All material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the financial year are shown in the 
financial statements. 
 
 
DIRECTORS 
 
The Directors who have held office during the period since the date of the last report are as follows: 
 
Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Dr. Sulaiman Bin Mahbob 
Tan Sri Dato’ Lodin bin Wok Kamaruddin 
Datuk Zakaria bin Sharif 
(Alternate Director to Tan Sri Dato’ Lodin bin Wok Kamaruddin) 
Dato’ Larry Gan  
Phillip Koh Tong Ngee 
Rita Benoy Bushon 
Nor Hizam bin Hashim 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
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BADAN PENGAWAS PEMEGANG SAHAM MINORITI BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia as a company limited by guarantee) 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) 
 
In accordance with Article 61 of the Company’s Article of Association, Tan Sri Dato' Seri Dr Sulaiman 
Bin Mahbob and Encik Nor Hizam Hashim retire at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and 
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. 
 
 
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS 
 
The Company is a company limited by guarantee and there are no shares in which the Directors 
could have an interest. The Company has not issued any debentures. 
 
 
DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS 
 
During and at the end of the financial year, no arrangements subsisted to which the Company is a 
party, being arrangements with the object or objects of enabling Directors of the Company to acquire 
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of, the Company or any other body 
corporate. 
 
Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director has received or become entitled to receive a 
benefit (other than Directors’ remuneration disclosed in Note 4 and Note 6) by reason of a contract 
made by the Company or a related corporation with the Director or with a firm of which the Director is 
a member, or with a company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest. 
 
 
STATUTORY INFORMATION ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Before the statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position were made out, 
the Directors took reasonable steps: 
 
(a) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and 

the making of allowance for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts 
had been written off and that adequate allowance had been made for doubtful debts; and 

 
(b) to ensure that any current assets, other than debts, which were unlikely to realise in the 

ordinary course of business their values as shown in the accounting records of the Company 
had been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise. 

 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
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BADAN PENGAWAS PEMEGANG SAHAM MINORITI BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia as a company limited by guarantee) 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
STATUTORY INFORMATION ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances: 
 
(a) which would render the amounts written off for bad debts or the amount of the allowance for 

doubtful debts in the financial statements of the Company inadequate to any substantial 
extent; or 

 
(b) which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the 

Company misleading; or 
 
(c) which have arisen which render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or 

liabilities of the Company misleading or inappropriate. 
 
No contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the 
period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the Directors, will or 
may substantially affect the ability of the Company to meet its obligations when they fall due. 
 
At the date of this report, there does not exist: 
 
(a) any charge on the assets of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year 

which secures the liability of any other person; or 
 
(b) any contingent liability of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year. 
 
At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in 
this report or the financial statements which would render any amount stated in the financial 
statements misleading. 
 
In the opinion of the Directors, 
 
(a) the results of the Company's operations during the financial year were not substantially 

affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature; and 
 
(b) there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this 

report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect 
substantially the results of the operations of the Company for the financial year in which this 
report is made. 

 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
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BADAN PENGAWAS PEMEGANG SAHAM MINORITI BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia as a company limited by guarantee) 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
AUDITORS 
 
The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, have expressed their willingness to continue in office. 
 
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with their resolution. 
 
 
 
 
 

    
 

 
 
 
 
TAN SRI DATO’ SERI  DR SULAIMAN BIN MAHBOB RITA BENOY BUSHON 
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR 
 
 
Kuala Lumpur 
29 February 2016 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
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BADAN PENGAWAS PEMEGANG SAHAM MINORITI BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia as a company limited by guarantee) 
 
 

 
 
 Note 2015 2014 
   RM RM 
 
Revenue 2 1,023,944 1,187,451 
 
Grant 3 5,746,252 5,013,563 
 
Other operating income 4 126,305 135,198 
 
Staff costs 5 (3,292,519) (3,167,412) 
 
Depreciation of property and equipment  (95,932) (96,072) 
 
Other operating expenses 6 (2,433,579) (1,750,079) 
 
Total expenditure  (5,822,030) (5,013,563) 
  ──────── ──────── 
Surplus before taxation 7 1,074,471 1,322,649 
 
Taxation 8 (327,575) (252,854) 
  ──────── ──────── 
Surplus for the financial year  746,896 1,069,795 
  ──────── ──────── 
Other comprehensive income: 
 
Items that may be reclassified subsequently 
  to the profit or loss: 
 
  Fair value change on available-for-sale financial 
    assets 
    Gross fair value charge  9,327 (6,650) 
    Deferred tax  888 2,523 
 
    Net fair value change  10,215 (4,127) 
  ──────── ──────── 
Total comprehensive income for the financial year  757,111 1,065,668 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 
 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 
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BADAN PENGAWAS PEMEGANG SAHAM MINORITI BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia as a company limited by guarantee) 
 

 
 Note 2015 2014 
  RM RM 
 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
 
Property and equipment 9 361,042 226,507 
Financial assets available-for-sale 10 147,811 138,795 
Deferred tax asset 11 261,806 592,769 
  ──────── ──────── 
  770,659 958,071 
  ──────── ──────── 
 
CURRENT ASSETS 
 
Other receivables, deposits 
  and prepayments 12 377,114 245,424 
Cash and cash equivalents 13 4,558,644 5,979,614 
Tax recoverable  250,000 - 
  ──────── ──────── 
  5,185,758 6,225,038 
  ──────── ──────── 
 
LESS: CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 
Deferred grant 3 - 2,146,252 
Other payables and accruals  1,299,762 1,091,131 
Current tax liability  - 46,182 
  ──────── ──────── 
  1,299,762 3,283,565 
  ──────── ──────── 
 
NET CURRENT ASSETS  3,885,996 2,941,473 
  ──────── ──────── 
  4,656,655 3,899,544 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
REPRESENTED BY: 
 
General fund  5,801,000 5,801,000 
Accumulated losses  (1,197,343) (1,944,239) 
Available-for-sale reserve  52,998 42,783 
  ──────── ──────── 
  4,656,655 3,899,544 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 
 
 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 
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BADAN PENGAWAS PEMEGANG SAHAM MINORITI BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia as a company limited by guarantee) 
 
 
 

 
 
   Available- 
 General Accumulated for-sale 
       fund            losses     reserve Total 
 RM RM RM RM 
 
At 1 January 2015 5,801,000 (1,944,239) 42,783 3,899,544 
 
Comprehensive income: 
- Surplus for the financial year - 746,896 - 746,896 
 
Other comprehensive income: 
- Financial assets available-for-sale,  
   net of deferred tax - - 10,215 10,215 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
At 31 December 2015 5,801,000 (1,197,343) 52,998 4,656,655 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
 
At 1 January 2014 5,801,000 (3,014,034) 46,910 2,833,876 
 
Comprehensive income: 
- Surplus for the financial year - 1,069,795 - 1,069,795 
 
Other comprehensive income: 
- Financial assets available-for-sale, 
   net of deferred tax - - (4,127) (4,127) 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
At 31 December 2014 5,801,000 (1,944,239) 42,783 3,899,544 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
 
 
 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN GENERAL FUND AND 
RESERVE 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 
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BADAN PENGAWAS PEMEGANG SAHAM MINORITI BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia as a company limited by guarantee) 

 
 Note 2015 2014 

  RM RM 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Surplus before taxation  1,074,471 1,322,649 

Adjustments for non-cash items: 
  Grant  (5,746,252) (5,013,563) 
  Subscriber services fee  (464,756) (232,864) 

Gain on disposal of financial assets 
  available-for-sale  (132) (376) 

  Depreciation of property and equipment  95,932  96,072 
  Dividend income  (5,323) (5,496) 
  Interest income  (116,844) (125,576) 
  ──────── ──────── 
  (5,162,904) (3,959,154) 
Changes in working capital:  
  Receivables  (165,043) 55,264 
  Payables  273,387 (251,789) 
  ──────── ──────── 
Cash used in operating activities  (5,054,560) (4,155,679) 

Subscriber services fee received  400,000 347,860 
Dividend income received  5,323 5,496 
Interest income received  150,196 94,373 
Tax paid  (291,906) (200,997) 
  ──────── ──────── 
Net cash used in operating activities  (4,790,947) (3,908,947) 
  ──────── ──────── 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Purchase of property and equipment  (230,467) (24,321) 
Purchase of financial assets available-for-sale  (973) (2,437) 
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets 
  available-for-sale  1,417 1,290 
  ──────── ──────── 
Net cash used in investing activities  (230,023) (25,468) 
  ──────── ──────── 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Grant received  3,600,000 4,500,000 
  ──────── ──────── 
Net cash generated from financing activities  3,600,000 4,500,000 
  ──────── ──────── 
(Decrease)/Increase in cash and cash equivalents 
  during the financial year  (1,420,970) 565,585 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning 
  of the financial year  5,979,614 5,414,029 
  ──────── ──────── 
Cash and cash equivalents at end 
  of the financial year 13 4,558,644 5,979,614 
  ════════ ════════ 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 
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 BADAN PENGAWAS PEMEGANG SAHAM MINORITI BERHAD 
 (Incorporated in Malaysia as a company limited by guarantee) 
  

 
 
A BASIS OF PREPARATION 

 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of 
the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”), International Financial Reporting Standards 
and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.  
 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the 
financial assets available-for-sale.  
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with MFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported 
amounts of income and expenses during the reported period. It also requires Directors to exercise 
their judgment in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. Although these 
estimates and judgment are based on the Directors’ best knowledge of current events and actions, 
actual results may differ. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note M. 
 
(a) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations that are effective 

 
The following amendment has been adopted by the Company for the first time for the financial 
year beginning on or after 1 January 2015: 

 
• Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2010 - 2012 Cycle 
• Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2011 - 2013 Cycle 

 
The adoption of these amendments did not have any impact on the current or any prior year 
and are not likely to affect future periods. 

 
(b) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations to existing standards that 

are applicable to the Company but not yet effective 
 

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for 
annual periods beginning after 1 January 2015: 
 
• Amendments to MFRS 116 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ and MFRS 138 ‘Intangible 

assets’ (effective from 1 January 2016) clarify that the use of revenue-based methods to 
calculate the depreciation of an item of property, plant and equipment is not appropriate. 
This is because revenue generated by an activity that includes the use of an asset 
generally reflects factors other than the consumption of the economic benefits embodied 
in the asset.   

 
The amendments to MFRS 138 also clarify that revenue is generally presumed to be an 
inappropriate basis for measuring the consumption of the economic benefits embodied in 
an intangible asset.   This presumption can be overcome only in the limited 
circumstances where the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of revenue or where 
it can be demonstrated that revenue and the consumption of the economic benefits of the 
intangible asset are highly correlated. 

  

SUM   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
           FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 
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BADAN PENGAWAS PEMEGANG SAHAM MINORITI BERHAD 
 (Incorporated in Malaysia as a company limited by guarantee) 

 
  

 
A BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations to existing standards that 
are applicable to the Company but not yet effective (continued) 

 
• MFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' (effective from 1 January 2018) will replace MFRS 139 

"Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement".    
 

MFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model in MFRS 139 and 
establishes three primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortised cost, 
fair value through profit or loss and fair value through other comprehensive income 
("OCI"). The basis of classification depends on the entity's business model and the cash 
flow characteristics of the financial asset. Investments in equity instruments are always 
measured at fair value through profit or loss with an irrevocable option at inception to 
present changes in fair value in OCI (provided the instrument is not held for trading). A 
debt instrument is measured at amortised cost only if the entity is holding it to collect 
contractual cash flows and the cash flows represent principal and interest. 
 
For liabilities, the standard retains most of the MFRS 139 requirements. These include 
amortised cost accounting for most financial liabilities, with bifurcation of embedded 
derivatives. The main change is that, in cases where the fair value option is taken for 
financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity's own credit risk is 
recorded in other comprehensive income rather than the income statement, unless this 
creates an accounting mismatch. 
 
MFRS 9 introduces an expected credit loss model on impairment that replaces the 
incurred loss impairment model used in MFRS 139. The expected credit loss model is 
forward-looking and eliminates the need for a trigger event to have occurred before credit 
losses are recognised. 
 

• MFRS 15 ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ (effective from 1 January 2018 
replaces MFRS 118 ‘Revenue’ and MFRS 111 ‘Construction contracts’ and related 
interpretations. The standard deals with revenue recognition and establishes principles 
for reporting useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, 
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with 
customers.  
 
Revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of a good or service and thus 
has the ability to direct the use and obtain the benefits from the good or service. The core 
principle in MFRS 15 is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the transfer of 
promised goods or services to the customer in an amount that reflects the consideration 
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.  
 
The Company will apply these standards when effective. The adoption of these standards 
and amendments will not have significant impact on the results of the Company. 
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 (Incorporated in Malaysia as a company limited by guarantee) 
 

 
 

 
B PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. The cost of an item of property and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price 
and any cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary 
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.  
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised as expenses in profit or loss 
during the financial period in which they are incurred. 
 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are 
included in gain or loss on disposal of property and equipment in profit or loss. 

  
All property and equipment are depreciated on the straight line method to allocate the cost to their 
residual values over their estimated useful lives, summarised as follows: 
 
Computer and electronic equipment 20% 
Furniture and fittings 20% 
Office equipment 20% 
Motor vehicles 20% 
Renovations 20% 
 
Residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of the 
reporting period.  

 
At the end of the reporting period, the Company assesses whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If such indications exist, an analysis is performed to assess whether the carrying amount 
of the asset is fully recoverable. A write down is made if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable 
amount. See accounting policy Note L on impairment of non-financial assets. 

 
 
C INCOME TAXES 
  
 Tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred income tax. The income tax expense or 

credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable 
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities 
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, 
except to the extent that it relates to item recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
respectively. 
 

 The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantially 
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Company operates and 
generates taxable income. 
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C INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED) 

 
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which 
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the 
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. This liability is measured using the single 
best estimate of the most likely outcome. 
 

 Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between 
the amounts attributed to assets and liabilities for tax purposes and their carrying amounts in the 
financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial 
recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transactions 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and 
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of reporting period and are 
expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled. 

 
 Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 

against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be 
utilised.  

 
Deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except where the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Company and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
Deferred and income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same taxation authority on rather the taxable entity of different 
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis. 
 
 

D CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
 For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting 

short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or other purposes. Cash and cash 
equivalents comprise cash on hand and deposits held with licensed financial institutions that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 
in value. 

 
 
E REVENUE RECOGNITION 
 
 Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of 

goods and services in the ordinary course of the Company’s activities. Revenue is shown net of 
goods and services tax, returns, rebates and discounts and amounts collected on behalf of third 
parties and after eliminating sales within the Company.  
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E REVENUE RECOGNITION (CONTINUED) 

 
 The Company recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is 

probable that the future economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for 
each of the Company’s activities as described below. The Company bases its estimates on historical 
results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of 
each arrangement.  

 
 Revenue is recognised on the following basis: 
 

(i) Income from proxy services are recognised upon performance of services. 
(ii) Contribution for publications and reports are recognised upon delivery of publications and 

reports. 
(iii) Income from forums and events is recognised on an accrual basis. 
(iv) Income from subscriber services is recognised on an accrual basis. 
(v) Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis. 
(vi) Dividend income from investments in quoted shares is recognised on the ex-dividend date. 

 
 
F GRANT 
 
 Grant relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary to 

match them with the costs they are intended to compensate. 
 
 
G EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
 Short term benefits 
 
 Wages, salaries, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits that are 

expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees 
render the related service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the 
reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
The liabilities are presented as other payables and accruals in the statement of financial position. 

 
Post employment benefit 

 
 The Company contributes to the national defined contribution plan for the employees of the Company. 

Contribution to this plan is charged to the profit or loss in the financial year to which they relate. Once 
the contribution has been paid, the Company has no further payment obligations. 
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H FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE 

 
Financial assets available-for-sale are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or 
not classified as held-for-trading or held-to-maturity investments. They are included in non-current 
assets unless the investment matures or management intends to dispose of it within twelve months of 
the end of the reporting period. All investments in equity instruments are classified as financial assets 
available-for-sale. 
 
Financial assets available-for-sale are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs and 
subsequently carried at fair value. Changes in the fair value of financial assets available-for-sale are 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income except for impairment losses and foreign 
exchange gains and losses on monetary assets. The exchange differences on monetary assets are 
recognised in profit or loss, whereas exchange differences on non-monetary assets are recognised in 
other comprehensive income as part of fair value change. 
 
Interest and dividend income on financial assets available-for-sale are recognised separately in profit 
or loss. Dividends income on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss 
when the Company’s right to receive payments is established. 
 
The Company assesses at the end of the reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.  
 
In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the 
fair value of the security below its cost is also considered as an indicator that the assets are impaired. 
If any such evidence exists for financial assets available-for-sale, the cumulative loss that had been 
recognised directly in equity is removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss. The amount of 
cumulative loss that is reclassified to profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost and 
the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit 
or loss. Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss on equity instruments classified as available-
for-sale are not reversed through profit or loss. 
 
When financial assets available-for-sale are sold, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised 
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 
 

 
I OPERATING LEASES 
 
 Leases of assets where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the 

lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any 
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on the straight line basis over the 
lease period. 
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J PROVISIONS 
 
 Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 

result of past events. It is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. 

 
 
K CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS 
 
 The Company does not recognise a contingent liability but discloses its existence in the financial 

statements. A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence 
will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond 
the control of the Company or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable 
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. A contingent liability also arises in 
the extremely rare circumstance where there is a liability that cannot be recognised because it cannot 
be measured reliably. However, contingent liabilities do not include financial guarantee contracts. A 
contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed by 
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the control of the 
Company. The Company does not recognise contingent assets but discloses its existence where 
inflows of economic benefits are probable, but not virtually certain. 

 
 

L IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill or intangible assets not ready to use, 
are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to 
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is 
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there is separately identifiable cash 
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment 
are reviewed for possible reversal of impairment at the end of the reporting period. 
 
The impairment loss is charged to profit or loss unless it reverses a previous revaluation in which 
case it is charged to the revaluation surplus. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. In 
respect of other assets, any subsequent increase in recoverable amount is recognised in profit or loss 
unless it reverses an impairment loss on a revalued asset in which case it is taken to revaluation 
surplus reserve. 
 

 
M CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES  
 

The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions 
that have a  significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below. 
 
 
 

SUM   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
            FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 (CONTINUED) 

 



Co
rp

or
at

e
Fr

om
 th

e 
Bo

ar
d 

an
d 

M
an

ag
em

en
t

CE
O

’s
 M

es
sa

ge
20

15
 in

 R
ev

ie
w

Fi
na

nc
ia

l S
ta

te
m

en
ts

, 
N

ot
ic

es
, F

or
m

s a
nd

 L
ic

en
se

Minority Shareholder Watchdog Group   Annual Report 2015      67

 

 

BADAN PENGAWAS PEMEGANG SAHAM MINORITI BERHAD 
 (Incorporated in Malaysia as a company limited by guarantee) 

 
 

 
M CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)  

 
Income taxes  
 
Significant judgement is required in determining the deferred tax amount in terms of the timing of 
reversal of the temporary difference.  The Company makes its best estimate based on information 
available as at balance sheet date. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is made. Deferred tax is estimated 
based on tax rates enacted as of balance sheet date. 
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
 The principal activity is to promote corporate governance in companies through shareholder activism 

acting in the interest of the minority shareholders as an integral part to the development of the capital 
market. 

 
 The Company is limited by guarantee, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia. 
 
 The number of employees as at the end of the financial year is 21 (2014: 22). 
 
 The address of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company is: 
 
 11th Floor, Bangunan KWSP, 
 No. 3, Changkat Raja Chulan, 
 Off Jalan Raja Chulan, 
 50200 Kuala Lumpur. 
 
 
2 REVENUE 
  2015 2014 
  RM RM 
 
 Contribution received from publications/reports published 283 40,259 
 Forums and events 558,905 914,328 
 Subscriber services fee 464,756 232,864 
  ──────── ──────── 
  1,023,944 1,187,451 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 
3 GRANT 
 
 Grant received is recognised as a reimbursement from the Capital Market Development Fund 

(“CMDF”) to finance the Company’s operational and capital expenditure. 
 
  2015 2014 
  RM RM 
 
 Balance as at 1 January 2,146,252 2,659,815 
 Grant received during the financial year 3,600,000 4,500,000 
 Grant utilised during the financial year (5,746,252) (5,013,563) 
  ──────── ──────── 
 Balance as at 31 December - 2,146,252 
  ════════ ════════ 
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4 OTHER OPERATING INCOME 
  2015 2014 
  RM RM 
 
 Dividend income 5,323 5,496 
 Interest income 116,845 125,576 
 Gain on disposal of financial assets available-for-sale 132 376 
 Other income 4,005 3,750 
  ──────── ──────── 
  126,305 135,198 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 
5 STAFF COSTS 
 
 Salaries and bonus 2,521,131 2,518,294 
 Defined contribution plan (‘EPF’) 377,816 376,911 
 Staff gratuity 206,558 77,755 
 Other employee benefits 187,014 194,452 
  ──────── ──────── 
  3,292,519 3,167,412 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 The amount of salaries, bonus and contribution to EPF received by the Chief Executive Officer and 

Director of the Company during the financial year were RM689,575 (2014: RM663,150) and 
RM141,237 (2014: RM134,477) respectively. 

 
 
 
 
 
6 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 
  2015 2014 
  RM RM 
 
 Directors’ fees 70,000 97,500 
 Outsourcing expenses 314,788 209,406 
 Project funding expenses   

- Asean Corporate Governance Scorecard Assessment 387,000 294,475 
- Institutional Investors’ Council 74,450 - 
- Research projects and papers 137,321 24,500 

 Rental expenses 280,596 267,806 
 Travelling, accommodation and entertainment expenses 168,287 141,131 
 Forum and event expenses 308,591 292,072 
 Telecommunication expenses 142,310 119,947 
 Insurance 131,933 130,739 
 Professional fees 227,191 41,643 
 Office Upkeep expenses 158,309 127,067 
 Others 32,803 3,793 
  ──────── ──────── 
  2,433,579 1,750,079 
  ════════ ════════ 
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7 SURPLUS BEFORE TAXATION 
  2015 2014 
  RM RM 
 
 Surplus before taxation is arrived at after 
   (charging)/crediting: 
 
   Auditors’ remuneration 

- Statutory Audit (15,000) (15,000) 
- Non-audit services (169,770) - 

   Directors’ meeting attendance allowance (34,000) (23,500) 
   Interest income 116,845 125,576 
   Dividend income 5,323 5,496 
   Gain on disposal of financial assets available-for-sale 132 376 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 
8 TAXATION 
 
 Current year tax  - 246,182 
 Over provision of prior years’ tax (4,276) (21,413) 
 Deferred tax (Note 11) 331,851 28,085 
  ──────── ──────── 
  327,575 252,854 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 The numerical reconciliation between surplus before taxation multiplied by the Malaysian statutory tax 

rate and tax expense of the Company is as follows: 
 
  2015 2014 
  RM RM 
 
 Surplus before taxation 1,074,471 1,322,649 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 Tax calculated at the Malaysian tax rate of 23% (2014: 25%) 252,071 330,662 
 
 Tax effects of: 
 - expenses not deductible for tax purposes 69,953 38,855 
 - income not subject to tax (1,273) (27,287) 
 - utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses - 12,795 
 - recognition of deferred tax asset not previously recognised - (123,168) 
 - over provision of prior years’ tax (4,276) (21,413) 
 - change in different tax rate 11,100 32,356 
 - effect of different tax rate - 10,054 
  ──────── ──────── 
 Taxation 327,575 252,854 
  ════════ ════════ 
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9 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 
  Computer 
  and 
  electronic Furniture Office  Renovation 
  equipment and fittings equipmentRenovations            WIP Total 
  RM RM RM RM RM RM 
 
 2015 
 
 Cost 
 
 At 1 January 2015 212,125 74,210 130,868 174,291 - 591,494 
 Additions 70,640 32,894 52,977 - 75,316 231,827 
 Write-off (1,360) - - - -    (1,360) 
  ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
 At 31 December 2015 281,405 107,104 183,845 174,291 75,316 821,961 
  ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
 
 Accumulated depreciation 
 
 At 1 January 2015 159,356 62,044 74,970 68,617 - 364,987 
 Charge for the financial 
   year 27,196 9,784 24,161 34,858 -   95,999 
 Write-off (67) - - - -        (67) 
  ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ────── 
 At 31 December 2015 186,485 71,828 99,131 103,475 - 460,919 
  ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ────── 
 
 Net book value 
 
 At 31 December 2015 94,920 35,276 84,714 83,816 62,316 361,042 
  ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ══════ 
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9 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
  Computer 
  and electronic Furniture Office 
       equipment and fittings equipment Renovations Total 
  RM RM RM RM RM 
 
 2014 
 
 Cost 
 
 At 1 January 2014 200,935 74,210 117,737 174,291 567,173 
 Additions 11,190 - 13,131 - 24,321 
 Write-off - - - - - 
  ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
 At 31 December 2014 212,125 74,210 130,868 174,291 591,494 
  ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
 
 Accumulated depreciation 
 
 At 1 January 2014 130,682 51,087 53,387 33,759 268,915 
 Charge for the financial year 28,674 10,957 21,583 34,858 96,072 
 Write-off - - - - - 
  ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
 At 31 December 2014 159,356 62,044 74,970 68,617 364,987 
  ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
 
 Net book value 
 
 At 31 December 2014 52,769 12,166 55,898 105,674 226,507 
  ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ 
 
 
10 FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE 
  2015 2014 
  RM RM 
 At fair value: 
 
 Quoted shares in Malaysia 155,924 147,057 
 Allowance for impairment (8,113) (8,262) 
  ──────── ──────── 
  147,811 138,795 
  ════════ ════════ 
 At fair value: 
 Quoted shares in Malaysia 147,811 138,795 
  ════════ ════════ 
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10 FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE (CONTINUED) 
 
 
 These shares are held for long-term with the purpose of giving locus standi to participate in the affairs 

in the investee corporations. 
 
 These shares are measured at fair value based on quoted prices in active market and is classified as 

Level 1 fair value measurement hierarchy in accordance with MFRS 7 “Financial Instruments – 
Disclosures”. 

 
 
11 DEFERRED TAX ASSET/ DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY 
 
 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 

tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same tax authority. 
The following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the statement of 
financial position: 

 
  2015 2014 
  RM RM 
 Subject to income tax: 
 
 Deferred tax asset (after offsetting)  261,806 592,769 
   ════════ ════════ 
 
The movement in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability during the financial year are as follows: 
 
  2015 2014 
  RM RM 
 
 At 1 January 592,769 618,331 
 
 (Charged)/credited to profit or loss (Note 8) (331,851) (28,085) 
 
 - Unutilised tax losses 203,126 - 
 - Property and equipment (10,368) 10,190 
 - Subscriber fees (15,192) - 
 - Deferred grant (503,511) (161,443) 
 - Provisions (5,906) 123,168 
 
 Charged to comprehensive income 888 2,523 
  ──────── ──────── 
 At 31 December 261,806 592,769 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
  

  

SUM   NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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11 DEFERRED TAX ASSET/ DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY (CONTINUED) 
  
 The components of deferred tax asset/(liability) before/after appropriate offsetting are as follows: 
 
  2015 2014 
  RM RM 
 

Deferred tax asset (before offsetting) 
- Unutilised tax losses  203,126 - 
- Deferred grant - 503,511 
- Provisions 117,262 123,168 
 ──────── ──────── 
 320,388 626,679 
 
Offsetting (58,582) (33,910) 

  ──────── ──────── 
Deferred tax asset (after offsetting) 261,806 592,769 
 ════════ ════════ 

 
 
  2015 2014 
  RM RM 
 

Deferred tax liability (before offsetting) 
- Property and equipment (31,165) (20,797) 
- Available-for-sale reserve (12,225) (13,113) 
- Subscriber fees (15,192) - 
 ──────── ──────── 
 (58,582) (33,910) 
Offsetting 58,582 33,910 

  ──────── ──────── 
Deferred tax liability (after offsetting) - - 

  ════════ ════════ 
 
 
12 OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 
 
 Other receivables 74,900 99,653 
 Deposits and prepayments 302,214 145,771 
  ──────── ──────── 
  377,114 245,424 
  ════════ ════════ 
  
 Included in deposits and prepayments is an amount of RM159,865 (2014: NIL) relating to website 

development. 
 

SUM   NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
           FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 (CONTINUED) 
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13 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
 Cash and bank balances 2,413,524 2,681,011 
 Deposits with a financial institution 2,145,120 3,298,603 
  ──────── ──────── 
  4,558,644 5,979,614 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 The weighted average interest rates that were effective as at the financial year end were as follows: 
 
  2015 2014 
  % % 
 
 Deposits with a financial institution 3.4 3.5 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 Deposits with a financial institution have an average maturity of 17 days (2014: 134 days). 
 
 
14 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT 
 
 As at the date of the statement of financial position, the commitment in respect of an operating lease 

pertaining to rental payable for office occupied by the Company under a lease agreement expiring on 
31 May 2018 (2014: 31 May 2015), are payable as follows: 

 
  2015 2014 
  RM RM 
 
 Within 1 year 255,322 99,735 
 Within 2 to 5 years 361,706 - 
  ──────── ──────── 
  617,028 99,735 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 
15 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
(a) Market risk 
 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. The Company’s market risks mainly arise from 
open positions in interest-bearing assets, to the extent that these are exposed to general and 
specific market movements. 
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15 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 
As the Company’s interest-bearing assets do not generate significant amounts of interest, 
changes in market interest rates do not have any significant direct effect on the Company’s 
income. 
 

(b) Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the 
other party by failing to discharge an obligation. The Company has no significant 
concentrations of credit risk. Credit risk arises from grant receivable, other receivables, 
deposits and prepayments and cash and bank balances. The Company structures the levels 
of credit risk it accepts by placing limits on its exposure to a single counterparty or any 
financial institution.  
 
The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk by class of financial asset is as follows: 
 
 2015 2014 
 RM RM 
 
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 74,900 99,653 
Cash and cash equivalents 4,558,644 5,979,614 

 ════════ ════════ 
 

 
 

The credit risk concentration of the Company by industry as at the date of the statement of 
financial position are set out below: 
 

  Financial 
2015  institutions Others 
  RM RM 
 
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments  - 74,900 
Cash and cash equivalents  4,558,644 - 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
2014 
 
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments  - 99,653 
Cash and cash equivalents  5,979,614 - 
         ════════       ════════ 

SUM   NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
           FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 (CONTINUED) 
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15 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 
(c) Liquidity risk 
 
 Liquidity risk is defined as the current and prospective risk to earnings, accumulated funds or 

reputation arising from the Company’s inability to efficiently meet its present and future (both 
anticipated and unanticipated) funding needs or regulatory obligations when they become 
due, which may adversely affect its daily operations and incur unacceptable losses. Liquidity 
risk arises from mismatches in the timing of cash flows. 

 
 The financial liabilities of the Company have no specific maturity. 
 
(d) Fair value of financial instruments 
 
 Financial instruments comprise financial assets, financial liabilities and off-balance sheet 

financial instruments. Fair value is the amount at which a financial asset could be exchanged 
or a financial liability settled, between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length 
transaction. 

 
 Fair value information is not provided for non-financial instruments and financial instruments 

that are excluded from the scope of MFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure”. This 
includes property and equipment, tax recoverable and deferred taxation. 

 
 The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31 

December 2015 and 31 December 2014 approximates its fair value due to the limited term to 
maturity of these instruments or limited sensitivity to interest rates. 

 
 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern in order to provide benefits for its stakeholders and to maintain 
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 
 
The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

 
 
16 APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 The financial statements have been approved for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board 

of Directors on 29 February 2016. 
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BADAN PENGAWAS PEMEGANG SAHAM MINORITI BERHAD 
 (Incorporated in Malaysia as a company limited by guarantee) 
 

We, Tan Sri Datuk Dr Sulaiman Bin Mahbob and Rita Benoy Bushon, two of the Directors of Badan 
Pengawas Pemegang Saham Minoriti Berhad, state that, in the opinion of the Directors, the financial 
statements set out on pages 5 to 25 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of the Company as at 31 December 2015 and of its financial performance and cash flows for the financial 
year then ended in accordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”), International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of Companies Act, 1965. 
 
 
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with their resolution. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
TAN SRI DATO’ SERI DR SULAIMAN BIN MAHBOB RITA BENOY BUSHON 
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR 

 
Kuala Lumpur 
16 February 2015 
 

I, Yap Sook Yeen, the Officer primarily responsible for the financial management of Badan Pengawas 
Pemegang Saham Minoriti Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out 
on pages 5 to 25 are, in my opinion, correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing 
the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960. 
 
 

 
YAP SOOK YEEN 
 
 
Subscribed and solemnly declared by the above named Yap Sook Yeen at Kuala Lumpur on 
29 February 2016. 
 
 
Before me: 
 
 

 
 
COMMISSIONER FOR OATH 

 

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 169(15) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 1965 

STATUTORY DECLARATION 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 169(16) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 1965 
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PricewaterhouseCoopers (AF 1146), Chartered Accountants,   
Level 10, 1 Sentral, Jalan Rakyat, Kuala Lumpur Sentral, P.O. Box 10192, 50706 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia 
T: +60 (3) 2173 1188, F: +60 (3) 2173 1288, www.pwc.com/my 
 
 

28 

 
 

TO THE MEMBERS OF BADAN PENGAWAS PEMEGANG SAHAM MINORITI 
BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia as a company limited by guarantee) 
(Company No. 524989 M) 
 
 
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Badan Pengawas Pemegang Saham Minoriti Berhad 
on pages 5 to 25 which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015 of the 
Company, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in general fund and 
reserve and statement of cash flows of the Company for the year then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on Notes 1 to 16. 
 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act, 1965, and for such internal control as the 
Directors determine are necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, 
including the assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
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TO THE MEMBERS OF BADAN PENGAWAS PEMEGANG SAHAM MINORITI 
BERHAD  
(Incorporated in Malaysia as a company limited by guarantee) 
(Company No: 524989 M) 
 
 
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements have been properly drawn up in accordance with the 
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
Companies Act, 1965 so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as 
of 31 December 2015 and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended.  
 
REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 
 
In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report that, 
in our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by 
the Company have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act. 
 
OTHER MATTERS 
 
This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 
174 of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume 
responsibility to any other person for the content of this report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS SOO HOO KHOON YEAN 
(No. AF: 1146) (No. 2682/10/17 (J)) 
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountant 
 
 
Kuala Lumpur 
29 February 2016 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 15th Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at 
the 11th Floor, Bangunan KWSP, No. 3, Changkat Raja Chulan, Off Jalan Raja Chulan, 50200 
Kuala Lumpur on Monday, 28 March 2016  at 11:00 a.m.

A G E N D A

1.	 To receive and adopt the Company’s Audited Financial Statements for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2015, together with the Directors’ and Auditors’ 
Reports thereon.

2.	 To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees of RM36,000.00, Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee Fees of RM6,000.00 and Directors’ Meeting Allowance of RMRM28,000.00 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016.

3.	 To re-elect Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Dr Sulaiman Mahbob, who retires in accordance with 
Article 61 of the Articles of Association of the Company, as a Director of the Company.

4.	 To re-elect Encik Nor Hizam Hashim who retires in accordance with Article 61 of the 
Articles of Association of the Company, as a Director of the Company.

5.	 To re-appoint Messrs PricewaterhouseCoopers as Auditors of the Company for the 
ensuing year and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

By Order of the Board

Chew Phye Keat

Secretary

Dated:  7 March 2016

NOTE: A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at this meeting may appoint a proxy to vote in his stead. A proxy 
need not be a member of the Company. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office not less 
than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting.
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PROXY FORM

We, ………………………………………………………………………………………………… of …………………
…………………………………………………………………….. being a member of the above named Company, 
hereby appoint …………………………………. of ……………………......................................................................
............ or failing him/her ………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………. of …………………………………………………………………………………………………………

as our proxy to attend and vote for us and on our behalf at the 15th Annual General Meeting of the said Company 
to be held on Monday, 28 March 2016 at 11:00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

Dated: 

 

                                                	

Director

				  

Director/Secretary
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